Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: December 13, 2017 ACCEPTED: February 14, 2018 PUBLISHED: February 22, 2018

Chiral algebras, localization and surface defects

Yiwen Pan^a and Wolfger Peelaers^b

E-mail: yiwen.pan@physics.uu.se, wolfger.peelaers@rutgers.edu

ABSTRACT: Four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal quantum field theories contain a subsector carrying the structure of a chiral algebra. Using localization techniques, we show for the free hypermultiplet that this structure can be accessed directly from the path integral on the four-sphere. We extend the localization computation to include supersymmetric surface defects described by a generic 4d/2d coupled system. The presence of a defect corresponds to considering a module of the chiral algebra: our results provide a calculational window into its structure constants.

KEYWORDS: Conformal Field Theory, Supersymmetric Gauge Theory, Extended Supersymmetry, Supersymmetry and Duality

ARXIV EPRINT: 1710.04306



^aDepartment of Physics and Astronomy, Uppsala University, Box 516, SE-75120 Uppsala, Sweden

^bNew High Energy Theory Center, Rutgers University, Piscataway, NJ 08854, U.S.A.

Contents

1	1 Introduction	
2	Review of SCFT/chiral algebra correspondence	3
3	Setup	7
	3.1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry on S^4	7
	3.2 Choice of Killing spinor	10
4	Localizing the free hypermultiplet	10
	4.1 Brief review of localization	11
	4.2 Localization locus	11
	4.3 Evaluation of the classical action	13
	4.4 Evaluation of the one-loop determinant	15
	4.5 Final result	16
5	5 Surface defects and chiral algebra modules	
	5.1 Embedding 2d $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ into 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$	19
	5.2 4d/2d coupled system on S^4	20
	5.3 Localization of 4d/2d coupled system on S^4	23
	5.4 Computing structure constants of chiral algebra modules	24
6	Discussion and future directions	26
\mathbf{A}	Reduction of spinors	27
	A.1 Reduction onto $\Sigma = S_{\theta=0}^2$	28
	A.2 Reduction onto $\Sigma = S^2_{\theta=\pi/2}$	28
в	Vector multiplets and gauged hypermultiplets	29
	B.1 BPS equations for the vector multiplet	29
	B.2 Evaluating classical actions	31
	B.3 Some Gaussian integrals	33
	B.4 $(0, 4)$ -supersymmetric singular configurations	35

1 Introduction

Four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal quantum field theories (SCFTs) contain a subsector of local operators whose operator product algebra is described by a chiral algebra [1]. The chiral algebra repackages and organizes an infinite amount of conformal data in a tightly constrained structure. As a result, it is an efficient tool to obtain new results on

various aspects of the above-lying SCFT. For example, one can extract novel unitarity bounds on central charges [1–4], get a handle on Higgs branches and their relations [5, 6], find expressions for superconformal indices [7–14] and obtain modular differential equations they must satisfy [6, 15, 16], etc. *Vice versa*, the image of the map from four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs to chiral algebras defines a set of vertex operator algebras of mathematical interest [15, 17]. For example, the image of theories of class \mathcal{S} has the structure of a topological quantum field theory valued in chiral algebras [18].

The SCFT/chiral algebra correspondence was constructed algebraically in [1]: the relevant subsector of local operators was isolated by passing to the cohomology of either one of two well-chosen nilpotent supercharge \mathbb{Q}_i , i = 1, 2, and it was shown that the algebra of cohomology classes, obtained by reducing the operator product algebra, is isomorphic to a chiral algebra. The chiral algebra depends meromorphically on the complex coordinates of a plane that is singled out by the choice of \mathbb{Q}_i . The first goal of this paper is to show that the chiral algebra structure can be carved out directly from the path integral. We restrict attention to the example of the free hypermultiplet, which already showcases all salient features and serves as a proof of principle. Concretely, we map the theory to the round four-sphere, and employ supersymmetric localization techniques with respect to the supercharge $\mathcal{Q} = \mathbb{Q}_1 + \mathbb{Q}_2$ to argue that the theory can be localized to a quantum field theory on a two-sphere.¹ This quantum field theory is precisely the chiral algebra associated with the free hypermultiplet, namely the symplectic boson pair. The localization computation is compatible with the insertion of operators in the subsector mentioned above. Schematically,

$$\int [D\Phi_{\rm HM}] \mathcal{O} e^{-S_{\rm HM}[\Phi_{\rm HM}]} = \int [DQD\widetilde{Q}] \mathcal{O} e^{-S_{\rm SB}[Q,\widetilde{Q}]}.$$
(1.1)

Here Φ_{HM} collectively denotes all fields in the hypermultiplet and $S_{\text{HM}}[\Phi_{\text{HM}}]$ is the hypermultiplet action. The insertion \mathcal{O} represents any collection of local operators belonging to the subsector and whose correlator we wish to compute. On the right hand side, Q and \tilde{Q} are the symplectic boson pair with action $S_{\text{SB}}[Q, \tilde{Q}]$ on the two-sphere.

The representation theory of the chiral algebras associated with $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs can be probed by inserting surface defects in the four-dimensional theory [1, 21, 22]. Indeed, it is easy to verify that a defect preserving $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetry on its worlvolume can be embedded perpendicular to the plane in which the chiral algebra lives in such a way that it is compatible with the nilpotent supercharges \mathbb{Q}_i . Its insertion corresponds to considering a module of the chiral algebra. Our localization computation can be extended likewise to include defects wrapping an orthogonal two-sphere. We consider a large class of defects described by coupling an arbitrary two-dimensional quantum field theory \mathcal{T}_{2d} to the free hypermultiplet via a twisted superpotential coupling.² We present in detail the extension of the localization computation to these 4d/2d coupled systems. Our result for

¹This computation is similar in spirit to [19]. See also [20] for an analogous computation on the three-sphere.

²The embedding of the two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ symmetry algebra in the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ algebra is such that a hypermultiplet decomposes into a pair of twisted chiral multiplets (and their conjugates).

the partition function of the 4d/2d coupled system is

$$Z_{\rm 4d/2d} = \sum [d\phi_{\rm 2d}] \ Z_{\rm 1-loop}(\phi_{\rm 2d}) \int [DQD\widetilde{Q}] \ e^{-S_{\rm SB}[Q,\widetilde{Q}]} \ e^{-4\pi i r \left[\widetilde{W}(Q(\rm NP),\widetilde{Q}(\rm NP),\phi_{\rm 2d}^{\rm tc})+{\rm c.c.}\right]}.$$
(1.2)

Here ϕ_{2d} collectively denotes the localization locus of the two-dimensional theory \mathcal{T}_{2d} , and $Z_{1-\text{loop}}(\phi_{2d})$ is the one-loop determinant of quadratic fluctuations of the two-dimensional theory. In the twisted superpotential, \widetilde{W} , the quantum fields Q and \widetilde{Q} are pinned at the north pole and we collectively wrote ϕ_{2d}^{tc} for the bottom components of the twisted chiral multiplets of the two-dimensional theory. The latter are set to their constant BPS profile (which is integrated/summed over). In the complex conjugate term, the symplectic boson pair is located at the south pole. This result can be further enriched by operator insertions. Away from the north and south poles, the computation is compatible with the insertion of operators in the subsector as above, while at the poles one can additionally insert native two-dimensional twisted chiral fields. This distinction of allowed insertions between the bulk of the two-sphere and the poles precisely reflect the structure of the module.

While information about the space of states constituting the module can be gained via, for example, the superconformal index, the structure constants of the module have been inaccessible so far. Our localization computation opens a computational window to compute these coefficients and to analyze their dependence on coupling constants.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we briefly review the salient features of the SCFT/chiral algebra correspondence. In section 3 we prepare the localization computation by placing the theory on the four-sphere and selecting the localizing supercharge. The main results of the paper are in sections 4 and 5, in which we present the localization computation of the free hypermultiplet to the symplectic boson, and its extension to include surface defects described by 4d/2d coupled systems. Two appendices contain some technical details and further results.

2 Review of SCFT/chiral algebra correspondence

In this section, we briefly review the correspondence between four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal field theories and chiral algebras. We refer the readers to the original paper [1] for all details. We also explain how the inclusion of a superconformal surface defect in the four-dimensional SCFT naturally leads one to consider modules of the chiral algebra [1, 21, 22].

As for any conformal field theory, the conformal data of a four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT fully determine correlation functions of finitely many local operators. These data comprise the spectrum of local operators, organized in representations of the superconformal algebra and any additional global symmetry algebras, and the three-point couplings or operator product expansion (OPE) coefficients, one for every three local operators. Naturally, the organization of local operators in multiplets implies relations among various OPE coefficients. The conformal data satisfy the conformal bootstrap constraints, which state that the operator product algebra is associative. The conformal bootstrap program aims to reverse the logic by trying to extract useful information from these constraints, and ideally solve for the conformal data, given a minimal amount of information on the (S)CFT. It has been successfully implemented for rational conformal field theories in two dimensions, in large part thanks to their enlarged Virasoro symmetry, but is not easily generalizable analytically away from rationality or for higher-dimensional theories. In [1], however, it was found that for four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs a solvable truncation can be obtained by considering instead of the algebra of local operators the algebra of *cohomology classes* with respect to a cleverly chosen nilpotent supercharge.³ This algebra was shown to be a chiral algebra.

In the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal algebra, one can define two nilpotent supercharges, denoted as \mathbb{Q}_i , i = 1, 2, which each take the schematic form of a sum of a Poincaré supercharge and a superconformal supercharge.⁴ Their anticommutator is given by

$$\{\mathbb{Q}_1, \mathbb{Q}_2\} = -\mathcal{M}^{\perp} - r, \qquad (2.1)$$

where r denotes the U(1)_r charge and \mathcal{M}^{\perp} is the generator of rotations in the (x_1, x_2) plane. The latter can be expressed in terms of the usual rotation generators (j_1, j_2) as $\mathcal{M}^{\perp} = j_1 - j_2$. The cohomologies of \mathbb{Q}_i can be shown to be isomorphic and can be easily characterized in two steps. First, the harmonic representatives of cohomology classes at the origin are characterized by the conditions

$$\frac{1}{2}(E - j_1 - j_2) - R = 0, \qquad r + (j_1 - j_2) = 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

which contain the conformal dimension E and the $\operatorname{SU}(2)_R$ spin R. Operators satisfying these conditions were called Schur operators in [1] as they satisfy the shortening conditions defining operators contributing to the Schur limit of the superconformal index [26]. Unitarity of the four-dimensional SCFT demands that Schur operators necessarily are $\operatorname{SU}(2)_R$ highest weight states, and moreover that their rotational quantum numbers j_1 and j_2 are maximal. A Schur operator can thus be schematically represented as $\mathcal{O}_{(11\dots1),+\dots,++\dots,+}$, where the first set of (symmetrized) indices are $\operatorname{SU}(2)_R$ indices, and the other indices are the usual Lorentz indices. We will sometimes suppress the Lorentz indices in what follows. Second, one can move the operator away from the origin, while remaining inside the cohomology of \mathbb{Q}_i , by employing \mathbb{Q}_i -closed translation operators. It turns out that one can only translate the operators in this manner in the plane kept fixed pointwise by \mathcal{M}^{\perp} , which we will call the chiral algebra plane. Introducing complex coordinates (z, \bar{z}) in this plane, the z-translation operator \mathcal{P}_z is \mathbb{Q}_i -closed, while a twisted \bar{z} -translation is \mathbb{Q}_i -exact.⁵ The latter is given concretely as $\mathcal{P}_{\bar{z}} + R^-$, where R^- is the $\operatorname{SU}(2)_R$ lowering operator. One then finds

$$\mathcal{O}(z,\bar{z}) = e^{z\mathcal{P}_z + \bar{z}(\mathcal{P}_{\bar{z}} + R^-)} \mathcal{O}_{(11\dots 1)}(0) e^{-z\mathcal{P}_z - \bar{z}(\mathcal{P}_{\bar{z}} + R^-)}$$
(2.3)

$$= u^{I_1}(\bar{z}) \dots u^{I_k}(\bar{z}) \mathcal{O}_{(I_1 I_2 \dots I_k)}(z, \bar{z}), \quad \text{with} \quad u^{I}(\bar{z}) = (1, \ \bar{z}).$$
(2.4)

³See [23–25] for similar constructions in three and six dimensions.

⁴Denoting the Poincaré supercharges of the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal algebra as $\mathcal{Q}_{I\alpha}, \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{I}$ and the conformal supercharges as $\mathcal{S}^{I\alpha}, \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{I}^{\dot{\alpha}}$, we take, following [1], $\mathbb{Q}_{1} = \mathcal{Q}_{1-} + \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{2}^{-}$ and $\mathbb{Q}_{2} = \mathcal{S}^{1-} - \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{2}^{-}$. Here I is an $\mathrm{SU}(2)_{R}$ index and $\alpha, \dot{\alpha}$ are the standard spinor indices.

⁵Note that in spinorial notation $x^{+\dot{+}} = z$ and $x^{-\dot{-}} = \bar{z}$.

As the \bar{z} dependence is generated by a \mathbb{Q}_i -exact operator, it drops out in cohomology: $[\mathcal{O}(z,\bar{z})]_{\mathbb{Q}_i} = \mathcal{O}(z)$. One can argue that the algebra of cohomology classes thus obtained defines a chiral algebra.

The resulting chiral algebras exhibit many beautiful, general properties [1]:

- It features Virasoro symmetry with central charge $c_{2d} = -12c_{4d}$, where c_{4d} is the (four-dimensional) Weyl anomaly associated to the square of the Weyl tensor. It is noteworthy that four-dimensional unitarity implies that the chiral algebra is necessarily non-unitary.
- Four-dimensional flavor symmetries manifest themselves as affine symmetries of the chiral algebra. The level k_{2d} of the current algebra is universally determined in terms of the flavor central charge k_{4d} , which controls the canonically normalized flavor current two-point function, as $k_{2d} = -\frac{1}{2}k_{4d}$.
- Exactly marginal gauging in the four-dimensional SCFT is concisely captured by a BRST reduction. Non-renormalization theorems guarantee that the resulting chiral algebra is independent of the exactly marginal coupling.⁶
- Each generator of the Higgs branch chiral ring gives rise to a strong generator of the chiral algebra,⁷ while Higgs branch chiral ring relations translate into null relations. Moreover, the Higgs branch can be extracted from the chiral algebra as its associated variety [6].
- The vacuum character of the chiral algebra is computed by the Schur limit of the superconformal index.

The chiral algebras associated to free $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFTs, i.e., the free hypermultiplet and the free vectormultiplet, are easily found to be a symplectic boson pair and a small (b, c)ghost system. As these chiral algebras are the basic building blocks of any localization computation, we briefly review their construction. The four real scalars of a free hypermultiplet are rotated by an $\mathrm{SU}(2)_R \times \mathrm{SU}(2)_F$ symmetry. The first factor is the R-symmetry, whose indices we denote as I, J, \ldots , while the second is a flavor symmetry, for which we use indices A, B, \ldots Correspondingly, we write $q_{IA} = \begin{pmatrix} Q & \tilde{Q} \\ -\tilde{Q}^{\dagger} & Q^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}$. The Schur operators in the free hypermultiplet are all words built from the elementary letters q_{1A} and the derivative $\partial_{+\dot{+}} = \partial_z$. The cohomology elements are then obtained by applying the 'twisted translation' of (2.4). In particular, one finds

$$q_A(z) = [u^I(\bar{z})q_{IA}(z,\bar{z})]_{\mathbb{Q}_i} = [q_{1A}(z,\bar{z}) + \bar{z} \ q_{2A}(z,\bar{z})]_{\mathbb{Q}_i}.$$
(2.5)

The meromorphic operator product expansion (OPE) of $q_A(z)$ with itself can be easily deduced from the OPE of the four-dimensional free hypermultiplet scalars, $q_{IA}(x)q_{JB}(y) \sim \frac{\epsilon_{IJ}\epsilon_{AB}}{(x-y)^2}$, and reads

$$q_A(z)q_B(w) \sim \frac{\epsilon_{AB}}{z-w}$$
 (2.6)

⁶See section 3.4.2 of [1].

⁷In fact, each generator of the Hall-Littlewood chiral ring, introduced in [1], descends to a strong generator.

One readily recognizes this OPE as defining a symplectic boson pair, and one can easily convince oneself that the full algebra of cohomology classes indeed corresponds to this chiral algebra.

Similarly, the free vector multiplet contains as Schur operators all words built from the letters λ_{1+} , $\tilde{\lambda}_{1+}$ and ∂_{++} , where $\lambda_{I\alpha}$, $\tilde{\lambda}_{I\dot{\alpha}}$ are the gaugini. The full cohomology is then obtained by 'twisted translations' of these words. For the elementary letters one can define

$$\tilde{\lambda}(z) = [u^{I}(\bar{z})\tilde{\lambda}_{I+}(z,\bar{z})]_{\mathbf{Q}_{i}}, \qquad \lambda(z) = [u^{I}(\bar{z})\lambda_{I+}(z,\bar{z})]_{\mathbf{Q}_{i}}, \qquad (2.7)$$

which can be easily shown to satisfy the OPE

$$\lambda(z)\tilde{\lambda}(w) \sim \frac{1}{(z-w)^2}.$$
(2.8)

Upon identifying $\tilde{\lambda} = b$ and $\lambda = \partial c$, these OPEs can be recognized as defining the (b, c) ghost system of type (1,0), $b(z)c(w) \sim (z-w)^{-1}$, upon removing the spurious c zero-mode. The resulting chiral algebra is the small (b, c) ghost system. In this paper we will focus mainly focus on the free hypermultiplet and provide some comments on the free vector multiplet in appendix B.3.

Let us now consider a four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT in the presence of a half-BPS superconformal surface defect. It is straightforward to verify that if the defect preserves $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ superconformal symmetry on its worldvolume and is transverse to the chiral algebra plane, piercing it at the origin, then it can be embedded such that both supercharges \mathbb{Q}_i are preserved.⁸ The presence of the defect enriches the cohomology of the nilpotent supercharges \mathbb{Q}_i at the origin, while away from the origin the twisted-translated (four-dimensional) Schur operators still make up the full cohomology. Let us denote the cohomology at the origin as M and the original chiral algebra, as an algebra of modes, as \mathcal{A} . It is easy to see that in the setup at hand, M is endowed with the algebraic structure of a module [1, 21, 22]:

$$: \mathcal{A} \times M \to M : (\mathfrak{a}, m) \mapsto \mathfrak{a} \cdot m, \qquad (2.9)$$

where the action of the chiral algebra on the module is defined as follows. Let $\mathfrak{a} = a_{-h_a-p}$ be a mode of the twisted-translated Schur operator a(z) of weight h_a , i.e., a Laurent coefficient of the expansion $a(z) = \sum_n a_{-h_a-n} z^n$. Consider the bulk-defect operator product expansion (within cohomology) of a(z) with (a representative of) the cohomology class m. Then $\mathfrak{a} \cdot m$ is obtained by selecting the coefficient of z^p in this OPE. One can easily verify that thanks to the associativity of the bulk-defect OPE this action satisfies the standard requirements to define a module. As always, if e_i is some basis for M, the structure constants $\lambda_{\alpha i}{}^j$ are defined as

$$\mathbf{a} \cdot e_i = \sum_j \lambda_{\mathbf{a}i}^{\ j} \ e_j \,, \tag{2.10}$$

and extended to all of M by linearity.

A powerful probe to analyze the modules thus obtained and their properties is their (graded) character: it counts (with signs) the elements of M. This quantity can be computed as the Schur limit of the superconformal index of the four-dimensional SCFT in the

 $^{^{8}}$ See subsection 5.1 for a detailed discussion of the relevant embedding.

presence of the surface defect, and allows to attempt to identify the module and to answer general questions like, for example, if the modules satisfy any particular representation theoretic properties, or perhaps, in the other extreme, if for any given $\mathcal{N} = 2$ SCFT all modules of the corresponding chiral algebra can be obtained from the insertion of some surface operator.⁹ Such analysis has been initiated in [21, 22]. On the other hand, the character has little to say about whether the module possesses any dependence on coupling constants.¹⁰ Unlike the dependence of the chiral algebra on exactly marginal couplings, there is no known non-renormalization theorem preventing any dependence of the module on coupling constants.¹¹ Using the computations in the current paper, we provide a computational tool that in principle allows one to probe this question.

3 Setup

Our first goal of this paper is to rederive the chiral algebra, whose algebraic construction was reviewed in the previous section, from the path integral on the four-sphere using localization techniques. In this section we prepare ourselves for this computation by recalling the supergravity background on S^4 and identifying the Killing spinor associated with the supercharge Q we would like to use for the localization computation. It turns out to be most convenient to choose (the Weyl transformation of) $\mathbb{Q}_1 + \mathbb{Q}_2$.

3.1 $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetry on S^4

The four-sphere of radius r can be described as a hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^5 described by the equation

$$x_0^2 + x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 + x_4^2 = r^2. aga{3.1}$$

¹⁰Let us be more precise and define the dependence of a module on a parameter τ . We denote by M_{τ} the module at the specified value of the parameter, and assume that there exists an isomorphism $\phi_{\tau'\tau}: M_{\tau} \to M_{\tau'}$ (for sufficiently small $|\tau - \tau'|$ and at a generic value of τ) as vector spaces. Let us denote the action of the chiral algebra on the module at τ as \cdot_{τ} . We say that the module does *not* depend on the parameter τ if for any τ the following diagram commutes



Let $e_i(\tau)$ be a basis at τ and $\phi_{\tau'\tau}(e_i(\tau)) = \sum_j \phi_i^{\ j} e_j(\tau')$. Then commutativity of the above diagram requires that the structure constants obey

$$\lambda_{ai}{}^{j}(\tau) = \phi_{i}{}^{j} \lambda_{aj}{}^{k}(\tau') (\phi^{-1})_{k}{}^{l}.$$
(2.11)

¹¹The argument used in the former case crucially uses the existence of extended superconformal symmetry and its associated Ward identities in the chiral algebra plane. The relevant supercharges in this extended algebra are not all preserved upon inserting the defect and hence the argument is not applicable in the latter case.

⁹A particularly 'nice' property one could hope the module to have is a spectrum bounded from below. In examples, however, one can show this property to be violated [22].

Introducing the coordinates $\varphi, \chi \in [0, 2\pi), \theta \in [0, \pi/2]$ and $\rho \in [0, \pi]$ as

$$x_{0} = r \cos \rho, \qquad x_{1} = r \sin \rho \, \cos \theta \, \cos \varphi, \qquad x_{3} = r \sin \rho \, \sin \theta \, \cos \chi, x_{2} = r \sin \rho \, \cos \theta \, \sin \varphi, \qquad x_{4} = r \sin \rho \, \sin \theta \, \sin \chi,$$

$$(3.2)$$

its induced metric can be written in terms of the vielbeins

$$e^1 = r \sin \rho \cos \theta \, d\varphi, \quad e^2 = r \sin \rho \sin \theta \, d\chi, \quad e^3 = r \sin \rho \, d\theta, \quad e^4 = r d\rho.$$
 (3.3)

We note that the loci at $\theta = 0$ and $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ form two intersecting two-spheres, $S_{\theta=0}^2$ and $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$, which intersect at the north pole ($\rho = 0$) and south pole ($\rho = \pi$). The vielbein on these two-spheres are easily obtained from (3.3) and are the standard vielbeins on a two-sphere:

$$e_{S_{\theta=0}^2}^1 = r d\rho, \qquad e_{S_{\theta=0}^2}^2 = r \sin \rho \, d\varphi,$$
 (3.4)

$$e_{S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^{1}}^{1} = r d\rho, \qquad e_{S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^{2}}^{2} = r \sin \rho \ d\chi.$$
 (3.5)

An algorithmic method to place supersymmetric theories on a curved background was developed in [27]. The idea is to first couple the theory to supergravity and then to consider a rigid limit freezing the bosonic supergravity fields, both dynamical and auxiliary, to supersymmetric configurations. The equations describing such configurations are obtained by setting to zero the supergravity variations of the gravitino and other fermionic fields in the supergravity multiplet.¹² For $\mathcal{N} = 2$ supersymmetric theories the relevant equations have been analyzed in [28, 29], and in particular applied to the (squashed) four-sphere.¹³

On the four-sphere, the result of the above analysis (or the shortcut described in footnote 13) is that the Killing spinors $\xi_I, \tilde{\xi}_I$ describing supersymmetry variations should solve the Killing spinor equations¹⁴

$$D_{\mu}\xi_{I} = -i\sigma_{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I}', \qquad D_{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I} = -i\tilde{\sigma}_{\mu}\xi_{I}', \qquad (3.6)$$

and the auxiliary equations

$$\sigma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\tilde{\xi}'_{I} = \frac{i}{4}M\xi_{I}, \qquad \sigma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\xi'_{I} = \frac{i}{4}M\tilde{\xi}_{I}.$$
(3.7)

The index I carried by the Killing spinor is an $SU(2)_R$ index, and M is a background field frozen to $M = -\frac{1}{3}\mathcal{R}$ with \mathcal{R} the Ricci scalar, i.e., $\mathcal{R} = \frac{12}{r^2}$.¹⁵ Let \mathcal{Q} denote a supercharge

¹²One can similarly couple the theory to a nontrivial background for flavor symmetries.

¹³Note that one can straightforwardly place a superconformal quantum field theory on a conformally flat space by performing a Weyl transformation. This approach was taken in the original paper [30]. Mass deformations of the theory can be obtained as in footnote 12. Squashing the four-sphere, however, requires the full machinery of [27].

 $^{^{14}}$ We follow the spinor conventions of Wess and Bagger [31]. See, for example, also appendix A of [32] for some more details.

¹⁵Note that for the case at hand the auxiliary equations are in fact a direct consequence of the Weitzenböck formula.

associated to a Killing spinor solving (3.6) and (3.7). The variations of a vector multiplet $(A_{\mu}, \phi, \tilde{\phi}, \lambda_I, \tilde{\lambda}_I, D_{IJ})$ are given by [28]

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}A_{\mu} &= +i(\xi^{I}\sigma_{\mu}\tilde{\lambda}_{I}) - i(\tilde{\xi}^{I}\tilde{\sigma}_{\mu}\lambda_{I}) \\ Q\phi &= -i(\xi^{I}\lambda_{I}) \\ Q\tilde{\phi} &= +i(\tilde{\xi}^{I}\tilde{\lambda}_{I}) \\ \mathcal{Q}\lambda_{I} &= +\frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}\sigma^{\mu\nu}\xi_{I} + 2D_{\mu}\phi\sigma^{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I} + \phi\sigma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I} + 2i\xi_{I}[\phi,\tilde{\phi}] + D_{IJ}\xi^{J} \\ \tilde{\mathcal{Q}}\lambda_{I} &= +\frac{1}{2}F_{\mu\nu}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu\nu}\tilde{\xi}_{I} + 2D_{\mu}\tilde{\phi}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu}\xi_{I} + \tilde{\phi}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu}D_{\mu}\xi_{I} - 2i\tilde{\xi}_{I}[\phi,\tilde{\phi}] + D_{IJ}\tilde{\xi}^{J} \\ \mathcal{Q}D_{IJ} &= -i(\tilde{\xi}_{I}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu}D_{\mu}\lambda_{J}) + i(\xi_{I}\sigma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\tilde{\lambda}_{J}) - 2[\phi,(\tilde{\xi}_{I}\lambda_{J})] + 2[\tilde{\phi},(\xi_{I}\lambda_{J})] + (I\leftrightarrow J) \,, \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.8)$$

while those of N_f hypermultiplets $(q_{IA}, \psi_A, \tilde{\psi}_A, F_{IA})$ coupled to an SU (N_f) vector multiplet $(A_{\mu}, \phi, \tilde{\phi}, \lambda_I, \tilde{\lambda}, D_{IJ})$ read

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{Q}q_{IA} &= -i(\xi_{I}\psi_{A}) + i(\tilde{\xi}_{I}\tilde{\psi}_{A}) \\ \mathcal{Q}\psi_{A} &= +2D_{\mu}q_{A}^{I}\sigma^{\mu}\xi_{I} - 4iq_{A}^{I}\xi_{I}' - 4i\xi_{I}\tilde{\phi}_{A}{}^{B}q_{B}^{I} + 2\xi_{I}F^{I}{}_{A} \\ \mathcal{Q}\tilde{\psi}_{A} &= +2D_{\mu}q_{A}^{I}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu}\xi_{I} - 4iq_{A}^{I}\tilde{\xi}_{I}' - 4i\tilde{\xi}_{I}\phi_{A}{}^{B}q_{B}^{I} + 2\tilde{\xi}_{I}F^{I}{}_{A} \\ \mathcal{Q}F_{IA} &= +i(\xi_{I}\sigma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\tilde{\psi}_{A}) - i(\tilde{\xi}_{I}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu}D_{\mu}\psi_{A}) \\ &- 2\phi_{A}{}^{B}(\xi_{I}\psi_{B}) - 2(\xi_{I}\lambda_{J})_{A}{}^{B}q_{B}^{J} + 2\tilde{\phi}_{A}{}^{B}(\tilde{\xi}_{I}\tilde{\psi}_{B}) + 2(\tilde{\xi}_{I}\tilde{\lambda}_{J})_{A}{}^{B}q_{B}^{J}{}_{B} . \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.9)$$

Here A, B, \ldots are $\mathrm{USp}(2N_f)$ indices, and $\mathrm{SU}(N_f)$ embeds in the standard way. The spinors $\check{\xi}_I, \check{\xi}_I$ should satisfy the constraints [28]

$$(\xi_{I}\check{\xi}_{J}) - (\tilde{\xi}_{I}\check{\tilde{\xi}}_{J}) = 0, \quad (\xi^{I}\xi_{I}) + (\tilde{\xi}^{I}\check{\xi}_{I}) = 0, \quad (\tilde{\xi}^{I}\tilde{\xi}_{I}) + (\check{\xi}^{I}\check{\xi}_{I}) = 0, \quad (\xi^{I}\sigma^{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I}) + (\check{\xi}^{I}\sigma^{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I}) = 0.$$
(3.10)

The supercharge Q squares to a sum of bosonic symmetries; see [28] for its detailed expression. In the next subsection, we will spell out Q^2 for the Killing spinor of our interest.

The supersymmetric actions on the four-sphere read [28, 30]

$$S_{\rm YM}^{S^4} = \frac{1}{g_{\rm YM}^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{g_{S^4}} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} D^{IJ} D_{IJ} - 4 D_{\mu} \tilde{\phi} D^{\mu} \phi - \frac{2\mathcal{R}}{3} \tilde{\phi} \phi + 4 [\phi, \tilde{\phi}]^2 - 2i(\lambda^I \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \tilde{\lambda}_I) - 2(\lambda^I [\tilde{\phi}, \lambda_I]) + 2(\tilde{\lambda}^I [\phi, \tilde{\lambda}_I]) \right],$$
(3.11)

$$S_{\rm HM}^{S^4} = \int d^4 x \sqrt{g_{S^4}} \left[\frac{1}{2} D_{\mu} q^{IA} D^{\mu} q_{IA} - q^{IA} \{\phi, \tilde{\phi}\}_A{}^B q_{IB} + \frac{i}{2} q^{IA} D_{IJ} q^J{}_A + \frac{\mathcal{R}}{12} q^{IA} q_{IA} - \frac{i}{2} \tilde{\psi}^A \tilde{\sigma}^{\mu} D_{\mu} \psi_A - \frac{1}{2} \psi^A \phi_A{}^B \psi_B + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\psi}^A \tilde{\phi}_A{}^B \tilde{\psi}_B - q^{IA} ((\lambda_I)_A{}^B \psi_B) + (\tilde{\psi}^A \tilde{(\lambda^I)}_A{}^B) q_{IB} \right].$$
(3.12)

3.2 Choice of Killing spinor

On the four-sphere, the equations (3.6) (and (3.7)) have sixteen \mathbb{C} -linearly independent solutions. These solutions are simply the Weyl transformations of the conformal Killing spinors on \mathbb{R}^{4} .¹⁶ Among these spinors, we choose for our localization computation the Weyl transformation of the supercharge $\mathbb{Q}_{1} + \mathbb{Q}_{2}$. Concretely, the Killing spinor reads

$$\xi_{I=1,\alpha} = \sin \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta+\varphi+\chi)} \\ e^{\frac{i}{2}(\theta+\varphi+\chi)} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \xi_{I=2,\alpha} = \cos \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(\theta+\varphi-\chi)} \\ e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta+\varphi-\chi)} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\tilde{\xi}_{I=1}^{\dot{\alpha}} = i \sin \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(\theta - \varphi + \chi)} \\ -e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta - \varphi + \chi)} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{\xi}_{I=2}^{\dot{\alpha}} = i \cos \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta - \varphi - \chi)} \\ e^{\frac{i}{2}(\theta - \varphi - \chi)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.14)

We can choose the auxiliary spinors $\check{\xi}_I, \, \check{\xi}_I \, \mathrm{as}^{17}$

$$\check{\xi}_I = e^{-i\varphi}\xi_I \,, \qquad \tilde{\tilde{\xi}}_I = e^{+i\varphi}\tilde{\xi}_I \,. \tag{3.15}$$

Let us define a few convenient bilinears built from the Killing spinors ξ_I , $\tilde{\xi}_I$

$$s \equiv (\xi^I \xi_I) = -2e^{i\varphi} \cos\theta \sin\rho, \qquad \tilde{s} \equiv (\tilde{\xi}_I \tilde{\xi}^I) = -2e^{-i\varphi} \cos\theta \sin\rho, \qquad (3.16)$$

$$R^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} \equiv (\xi^{I}\sigma^{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I})\partial_{\mu} = -\frac{2}{r}\partial_{\varphi}, \qquad \qquad R^{\mu}_{IJ} \equiv (\xi_{I}\sigma^{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{J}). \qquad (3.17)$$

Let \mathcal{Q} henceforth denote the supercharge described by the above Killing spinor. Its square can be computed straightforwardly:

$$Q^2 = -2i\mathcal{L}_R^A + \text{Gauge}(2i(\tilde{s}\phi + s\tilde{\phi})) + \mathcal{R}_{\mathrm{U}(1)_r}(2r^{-1}), \qquad (3.18)$$

where \mathcal{L}_R^A is the gauge covariant Lie derivative along the vector field $R = -\frac{2}{r}\partial_{\varphi}$.

4 Localizing the free hypermultiplet

In this section, we localize the theory of a free hypermultiplet on the four-sphere with respect to the supercharge Q identified in the previous section. We will find that the theory localizes onto a two-dimensional quantum field theory on the two-sphere $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$. This quantum field theory precisely describes a symplectic boson pair, as expected from the algebraic discussion presented in section 2. The computation in this section is a crucial ingredient for our analysis in the next section of the effect of including defects. It also serves as a blueprint for the localization computation of gauge theories, which, however, is not the focus of the current paper and is left for future work.¹⁸

 $^{^{16}}$ One should also perform a frame rotation to describe the spinors in the frame defined by the vielbeins (3.3).

¹⁷The constraints (3.10) do not uniquely fix the checked spinors. The ambiguity reflects the freedom to perform an independent $SU(2)_{\mathcal{R}'}$ rotation on the index of the checked spinors and the auxiliary field F_{IA} . Our choice identifies this $SU(2)_{\mathcal{R}'}$ and the standard $SU(2)_{\mathcal{R}}$.

 $^{^{18}}$ See appendix B for a discussion of certain aspects of the extension to include vector multiplets.

4.1 Brief review of localization

Localization computations are based on the observation that in the path integral the action can be deformed by Q-exact terms for any supercharge Q preserving the action, $QS = 0, [33, 34]^{19}$

$$\int [D\Phi] \mathcal{O} e^{-S[\Phi]} = \int [D\Phi] \mathcal{O} e^{-S[\Phi] + t\mathcal{Q}\int V}, \quad \text{if} \quad \mathcal{Q}S = \mathcal{Q}\mathcal{O} = \mathcal{Q}^2 \int V = 0.$$
(4.1)

Here Φ collectively denotes all fields in the theory, V is any (local) fermionic functional of the quantum fields such that the integral of its variation under Q^2 vanishes and t is an arbitrary parameter. We also inserted an operator \mathcal{O} , local or non-local, order or disorder, which must be annihilated by Q for the equality to hold. Note that if the operator \mathcal{O} can be obtained as the Q-variation of another operator, the path integral will evaluate to zero, so the interesting observables lie in Q-cohomology. If one now chooses V such that the (bosonic part of) QV is positive definite and sends t to infinity, it is clear that the zeros of QV will dominate the path integral. Let us denote this set of zeros as $\{\Phi_0\}$. The path integral localizes to this vanishing locus and it is sufficient to only take into account quadratic fluctuations of the deformation action $Q \int V$ around them. In other words,

$$\int [D\Phi] \mathcal{O} e^{-S[\Phi]} = \sum_{\{\Phi_0\}} \mathcal{O}|_{\Phi_0} e^{-S[\Phi_0]} Z_{1\text{-loop}}[\Phi_0].$$
(4.2)

A canonical choice for V is²⁰

$$V_{\text{can.}} = \sum_{\text{fermions } \psi} (\mathcal{Q}\psi)^{\dagger}\psi, \qquad (4.3)$$

such that the localization locus $\{\Phi_0\}$ is given by the solutions of the BPS equations $\mathcal{Q}\psi = 0$.

The localization computation thus consists of three steps:

- 1. find the localization locus, defined by the BPS equations $Q\psi = 0$
- 2. evaluate the classical action and any operator insertions on this locus
- 3. evaluate the one-loop determinant of quadratic fluctuations

We will address each of them in turn for the case of the free hypermultiplet.

4.2 Localization locus

The BPS equations can be read off from (3.9), and we reproduce them here for convenience:

$$0 = 2\partial_{\mu}q_{A}^{I}\sigma^{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I} - 4iq_{A}^{I}\xi_{I}' + 2\check{\xi}_{I}F^{I}{}_{A}, \qquad 0 = 2\partial_{\mu}q_{A}^{I}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu}\xi_{I} - 4iq_{A}^{I}\tilde{\xi}_{I}' + 2\check{\xi}_{I}F^{I}{}_{A}.$$
(4.4)

¹⁹See also the recent comprehensive review [35].

²⁰Other choices for V have been analyzed in the literature in the context of so-called Higgs branch localization computations [32, 36–42]. It would be very interesting to study such other choices for the localizing supercharge used in the present paper.

It is straightforward to deduce that

$$\partial_{\varphi}q_{IA} = 0, \qquad F_{JA} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{s}} \left((2\check{\xi}_{J}\sigma^{\mu}\tilde{\xi}_{I})D_{\mu}q^{I}{}_{A} + (\check{\xi}_{J}\sigma^{\mu}D_{\mu}\xi_{I})q^{I}{}_{A} \right) = +\frac{1}{s} \left(2(\tilde{\xi}_{J}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu}\xi_{I})D_{\mu}q^{I}{}_{A} + (\tilde{\xi}_{J}\tilde{\sigma}^{\mu}D_{\mu}\xi_{I})q^{I}{}_{A} \right).$$

$$(4.5)$$

Note that the first equation can also be read off from (3.18), and that similarly $\partial_{\varphi}F_{IA} = 0$.

Imposing the standard reality conditions $q_{IA}^{\dagger} = \epsilon^{IJ} \epsilon^{AB} q_{JB}$ and $F_{IA}^{\dagger} = -\epsilon^{IJ} \epsilon^{AB} F_{JB}$, the BPS equations can be split in their real and imaginary parts. We find explicitly for A = 1

$$0 = \left[\frac{+i}{\sin\theta\sin\rho}\partial_{\chi}q_{11} - \frac{\cos\theta}{\sin\rho}\partial_{\theta}q_{11} - \sin\theta\partial_{\rho}(\cos\rho q_{11})\right] + ie^{i\chi}\partial_{\rho}(\sin\rho q_{21})$$

$$0 = \left[\frac{-i}{\sin\theta\sin\rho}\partial_{\chi}q_{21} - \frac{\cos\theta}{\sin\rho}\partial_{\theta}q_{21} - \sin\theta\partial_{\rho}(\cos\rho q_{21})\right] + ie^{-i\chi}\partial_{\rho}(\sin\rho q_{11})$$

$$F_{11} = (r\cos\theta)^{-1}[-e^{i\chi}\sin\theta(r\sin\rho\,\partial_{4} + \cos\rho)q_{21} + (-r\sin\theta\,\partial_{2} - ir\cos\rho\,\partial_{4} + i\sin\rho)q_{11}]$$

$$F_{21} = (r\cos\theta)^{-1}[-e^{-i\chi}\sin\theta(r\sin\rho\,\partial_{4} + \cos\rho)q_{11} + (r\sin\theta\,\partial_{2} - ir\cos\rho\,\partial_{4} + i\sin\rho)q_{21}],$$

$$(4.6)$$

while the equations for A = 2 can be obtained by complex conjugation of the above equations. It is clear that the first two equations constrain the hypermultiplet scalars, while the last two simply determine the auxiliary fields in terms of these scalars. We can thus focus on the first two equations. We will show momentarily that the moduli space of solutions to these equations (and their complex conjugates), and thus the space of BPS configurations, is one copy of the space of complex functions on $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$. We can thus already infer that the result of the localization computation will be a quantum field theory defined on $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$ describing the dynamics of this complex field.

Let us now analyze the BPS equations for the hypermultiplet scalars q_{11} and q_{21} , i.e., the first two equations of (4.6). Thanks to the φ -invariance of q_{IA} , they are coupled first-order partial differential equations on the three ball D^3 parametrized by (χ, θ, ρ) and whose boundary is given by the sphere $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$. Let us first decompose the coupled system of equations into two independent second-order equations. To do so, we define the operators

$$\mathcal{D}_{\pm} \equiv \pm \frac{i}{\sin\theta\sin\rho} \partial_{\chi} - \frac{\cos\theta}{\sin\rho} \partial_{\theta} - \cos\rho\sin\theta\partial_{\rho} + \sin\rho\sin\theta , \qquad (4.7)$$

and rewrite the equations (4.6) as

$$0 = e^{-i\chi} \mathcal{D}_{+} q_{11} + i\partial_{\rho}(\sin\rho q_{21}), \qquad 0 = ie^{-i\chi} \partial_{\rho}(\sin\rho q_{11}) + \mathcal{D}_{-} q_{21}.$$
(4.8)

Let us then act on the left equation with the first-order differential operator $e^{+i\chi}(\mathcal{D}_- + \sin\rho\sin\theta)$, and on the right one with $ie^{+i\chi}(\sin\rho\partial_{\rho} + 2\cos\rho)$. Subtracting the two resulting equations and using that

$$(\partial_{\rho}\sin\rho + \cos\rho)\mathcal{D}_{\pm} = (\mathcal{D}_{\pm} + \sin\rho\sin\theta)\partial_{\rho}\sin\rho, \qquad (4.9)$$

where the derivatives act on everything to the right, including any test function, one can extract a second-order, linear, homogeneous partial differential equation for q_{11} ,

$$0 = e^{+i\chi} (\mathcal{D}_{-} + \sin\rho\sin\theta) (e^{-i\chi}\mathcal{D}_{+}q_{11}) + (\partial_{\rho}\sin\rho + \cos\rho)\partial_{\rho}(\sin\rho q_{11}).$$
(4.10)

We recall that the qualitative behavior of the solutions to such a second-order linear differential equation is mostly controlled by its highest derivative terms:

$$\left[\frac{1}{\sin^2\rho\sin^2\theta}\partial_{\chi}^2 + \frac{\cos^2\theta}{\sin^2\rho}\partial_{\theta}^2 + \frac{\cos\theta\cos\rho\sin\theta}{\sin\rho}(\partial_{\theta}\partial_{\rho} + \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\theta}) + (\sin^2\rho + \sin^2\theta\cos^2\rho)\partial_{\rho}^2\right]q_{11}d_$$

Representing these terms as $A_{\bar{\mu}\bar{\nu}}\partial_{\bar{\mu}}\partial_{\bar{\nu}}$ with $\bar{\mu} = \chi, \theta, \rho$, it immediately follows that det $A = \cos^2 \theta (\sin \theta \sin \rho)^{-2} \ge 0$. This is precisely the ellipticity condition of the second-order differential equation for q_{11} . Similar to the Dirichlet problem of the Laplace equation, the solutions to the equation for q_{11} are thus determined by the value of q_{11} at the boundary sphere $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$ (see for example [43]). An almost identical analysis can be performed for q_{12} . Note however, that the original equations should still hold, restricting the freedom in the solution to q_{12} . This shows that the moduli space of the BPS equations (4.6) is indeed given by the space of complex functions on $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$.

4.3 Evaluation of the classical action

Our next task is the evaluation of the classical action $(3.12)^{21}$ on the BPS configurations. First of all, we argued above that (3.18) implies that q_{IA} , F_{IA} are independent of the coordinate φ . Hence, the (bosonic part of the) free hypermultiplet Lagrangian is independent of the coordinate φ , and we can perform the φ -integral effortlessly. As a result, we are left with an integral over a three-ball D^3 , parametrized by the coordinates χ, θ, ρ , with boundary $\partial D^3 = S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$.²² Next we substitute the complex BPS solutions for the auxiliary fields F_{IA} as in equation (4.6).²³ It is straightforward to show that the hypermultiplet Lagrangian can then be written as a total divergence,

$$2\pi r \sqrt{g_{D^3}} \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{HM}} = 2\pi r \sqrt{g_{D^3}} \nabla_{\bar{\mu}} \left[\frac{1}{s\tilde{s}} \epsilon^{\bar{\mu}\nu\lambda\delta} R_{\lambda} (R_{IJ})_{\delta} q^{I}{}_{A} D_{\nu} q^{JA} - \frac{2i}{\tilde{s}} (\xi'_{I} \sigma^{\bar{\mu}} \tilde{\xi}_{J}) q^{I}{}_{A} q^{JA} \right]$$
$$= 2\pi r \sqrt{g_{D^3}} \nabla_{\bar{\mu}} \left[\frac{1}{s\tilde{s}} \epsilon^{\bar{\mu}\nu\lambda\delta} R_{\lambda} ((q^{I}{}_{A}\xi_{I})\sigma_{\delta} D_{\nu} (q^{JA}\tilde{\xi}_{J})) - \frac{2i}{s\tilde{s}} R^{\bar{\mu}} (\xi_{I}\xi'_{J}) q^{I}{}_{A} q^{JA} \right]$$
$$\equiv 2\pi r \sqrt{g_{D^3}} \nabla_{\bar{\mu}} K^{\bar{\mu}} , \qquad \bar{\mu} = \chi, \theta, \rho.$$
(4.11)

Here $\sqrt{g_{D^3}} = r^3 \cos\theta \sin\theta \sin^3\rho$ is the square root of the determinant of the metric on the three-ball and $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\delta} \equiv e^a_{\mu}e^b_{\nu}e^c_{\lambda}e^d_{\delta}\epsilon_{abcd}$ is the standard volume form. Using Stokes' theorem, one can reduce the integral over the three-ball to an integral over the boundary. The latter

 $^{^{21}}$ In this section we are considering a free hypermultiplet and hence we consider the action in the absence of its coupling to the vector multiplet. In appendix B.2 we consider the evaluation of both the Yang-Mills action and the gauged hypermultiplet action on configurations satisfying the (complex) BPS equations.

 $^{^{22}\}text{The coordinate }\varphi$ is ill-defined on this locus. We set it to zero consistently.

 $^{^{23}}$ As was observed in for example [20, 44], it is sufficient to consider the complex BPS equations to evaluate the classical action and reduce it to an action of a lower-dimensional quantum field theory.

can be reinterpreted as the action for the lower-dimensional quantum field theory onto which we are localizing. In other words,

$$S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d} = 2\pi r \int d\rho d\chi \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \,\mathcal{L}_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d} \,, \qquad \text{with} \qquad \mathcal{L}_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d} = \left[(r^2 \sin \rho)^{-1} \sqrt{g_{D^3}} K^{\theta} \right]_{\theta \to \pi/2} \,. \tag{4.12}$$

To write the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{HM}}^{2d}$ more concretely, it is convenient to first define two flavor doublets of spinors $\mathfrak{q}_A \equiv q^I_A \xi_I$, $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_A \equiv q^I_A \tilde{\xi}_I$. As explained in detail in appendix A.2, when restricting to $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$, these spinors can be traded for a two-dimensional anti-chiral spinor \mathfrak{q}_A^{2d} .²⁴ Concretely, in the patch U_{eq} of the two-sphere excluding both the north pole and south pole, the spinor \mathfrak{q}_A^{2d} reads²⁵

$$\mathbf{q}_{A}^{2d,(eq)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ Q_{A}^{(eq)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ e^{-\frac{i\chi}{2}}\cos\frac{\rho}{2} \ q_{1A} - ie^{\frac{i\chi}{2}}\sin\frac{\rho}{2} \ q_{2A} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.15)

The fully covariant two-dimensional Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d}[\mathfrak{q}] = -\epsilon^{AB} \epsilon^{\mu\nu} (\mathfrak{q}_A^{\rm 2d} \gamma_\mu \nabla_\nu^{\rm 2d} \mathfrak{q}_B^{\rm 2d}), \qquad \mu, \nu = \rho, \chi.$$
(4.16)

Here γ_a are two-dimensional gamma-matrices,²⁶ while ∇^{2d} denotes the two-dimensional covariant derivative on the two-sphere, i.e., $\nabla^{2d}_{\nu}\mathfrak{q}_B^{2d} = \partial_{\nu}\mathfrak{q}_B^{2d} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\nu}{}^{ab}\gamma_{ab}\mathfrak{q}_B^{2d}$, with $\omega_{\nu}{}^{ab}$ the standard spin-connection on the two-sphere.

In spinor components, and defining $Q^{(eq)} \equiv Q_1^{(eq)}$ and $\tilde{Q}^{(eq)} \equiv Q_2^{(eq)}$, the action can be written alternatively as

$$S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d} = -4\pi i \int d\chi d\rho \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \ \widetilde{Q}^{\rm (eq)} \ \overline{\varphi}^{\rm (eq)} \ Q^{\rm (eq)} , \qquad (4.17)$$

where $\overline{\wp}^{(eq)}$ is the lowering operator for the magnetic charge $\mathfrak{m} = \frac{1}{2}$ of monopole harmonics in the equator patch [45, 46]. Its expression, as well as those in the patches $U_{\text{N/S}}$ which exclude the south/north pole respectively (see also footnote 25), is

$$\overline{\wp}^{(\text{eq})} \equiv \left(\partial_{\rho} - \frac{i}{\sin\rho}\partial_{\chi} + \mathfrak{m}\frac{\cos\rho}{\sin\rho}\right), \quad \overline{\wp}^{(\text{N/S})} \equiv e^{\mp i\chi} \left(\partial_{\rho} - \frac{i}{\sin\rho}\partial_{\chi} + \mathfrak{m}\frac{\cos\rho\mp 1}{\sin\rho}\right). \quad (4.18)$$

$$(e^{a})_{\mathrm{N}} \equiv (U^{-1})^{a}{}_{b} (e^{b})_{\mathrm{eq}}, \quad (e^{a})_{\mathrm{S}} \equiv U^{a}{}_{b} (e^{b})_{\mathrm{eq}}, \quad \text{with} \quad U = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\chi & \sin\chi \\ -\sin\chi & \cos\chi \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.13)

and are simply induced from stereographic projection. The anti-chiral component Q_A of the spinor thus satisfies

$$Q_A^{(N)} = e^{\frac{i\chi}{2}} Q_A^{(eq)}, \qquad Q_A^{(S)} = e^{-\frac{i\chi}{2}} Q_A^{(eq)}.$$
 (4.14)

²⁶We take $\gamma_1 = \tau_1$, $\gamma_2 = \tau_2$, and thus $\gamma_3 = \tau_3$, in terms of the Pauli-matrices and define the inner product between two two-dimensional spinors as $(\psi \chi) \equiv \psi^T (i\tau_2) \chi$.

²⁴When restricting a pair of four-dimensional spinors $\psi_{\alpha}, \tilde{\psi}_{\dot{\alpha}}$ to a two-dimensional locus, one typically finds a pair of two-dimensional spinors $\psi^{2d}, \tilde{\psi}^{2d}$. It turns out that for the case of $\mathfrak{q}_{\alpha A}, \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_{\dot{\alpha} A}$ the two-dimensional spinors \mathfrak{q}_A^{2d} and $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_A^{2d}$ are proportional to each other and anti-chiral in the two-dimensional sense.

²⁵We complete the patch U_{eq} to an open cover of the two-sphere as $S^2 = U_N \cup U_S \cup U_{eq}$, where $U_{N/S}$ excludes the south/north pole of the two-sphere. We choose the standard vielbein (3.5) on U_{eq} . The vielbein on $U_{N/S}$ are related by a frame rotation

With these operators, the action can be written uniformly in all patches:

$$S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d} = -4\pi i \int d\chi d\rho \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \ \widetilde{Q} \ \overline{\wp} \ Q \,. \tag{4.19}$$

Note that the fields Q and \tilde{Q} are related by a reality condition. This follows directly from the analysis in the previous subsection.

4.4 Evaluation of the one-loop determinant

The final step in the localization computation is to evaluate the one-loop determinant of quadratic fluctuations. We will argue that

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}} = 1.$$
 (4.20)

We first observe that the deformation action is quadratic in the hypermultiplet fields. The differential operator describing quadratic fluctuations around the BPS configurations, and therefore also the one-loop determinant, can thus only depend on background parameters.²⁷ Consequentially, the one-loop determinant provides an overall normalization to the partition function which, while immaterial for the computation of correlation functions, can be fixed by demanding that the partition function of the two-dimensional theory defined by the action (4.16) or (4.19) equals the partition function of the four-dimensional free hypermultiplet. Both computations are straightforward, as the theories are Gaussian. In fact, the result of the latter can be borrowed from the localization literature [28, 30] and reads

$$Z_{1-\text{loop}}^{\text{HM}} = \lim_{\substack{x \to 0 \\ b \to 1}} \Upsilon_b \left(\frac{b+b^{-1}}{2} + x \right) \,, \tag{4.21}$$

in terms of Upsilon-function Υ_b .²⁸

Now let us compute the partition function of the two-dimensional theory. It is natural to decompose Q and \widetilde{Q} in monopole harmonics $Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}=1/2}$. Indeed, given the monopole charge $\mathfrak{m} = \frac{1}{2}$, $\{Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}} | j \in \mathbb{N} + |\mathfrak{m}|, m \in \{-j, -j + 1, \dots, +j\}\}$ forms an orthonormal basis for the space of sections $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}_{-})$ of the nontrivial anti-chiral spinor bundle \mathcal{S}_{-} .²⁹ The first order differential operator $\overline{\wp}$ can be viewed as $\overline{\partial} - ia_{\overline{z}}$ on $\Gamma(\mathcal{S}_{-})$, where a is the U(1) connection on \mathcal{S}_{-} , taking the monopole profile $a = \frac{1}{2}(\pm 1 - \cos \rho)d\chi$ on $U_{\mathrm{N/S}}$. It is easy to work out the eigenvalue of the operator $\overline{\wp}$ by working in a patch. One finds

$$\overline{\wp}Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}} = -\sqrt{(j+\mathfrak{m})(j+1-\mathfrak{m})}Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}-1} \quad \Longrightarrow \quad \overline{\wp}Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}=1/2} = -(j+\frac{1}{2})Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}=-1/2}.$$
(4.23)

²⁸The Upsilon-function is the regularization of the infinite product

$$\Upsilon_b(x) = \prod_{m,n \ge 0} (mb + nb^{-1} + x)((m+1)b + (n+1)b^{-1} - x).$$
(4.22)

 $^{29}\mathrm{On}~S^2$ there are two inequivalent spin structures. Here the spinor bundle corresponds to the nontrivial spin structure.

 $^{^{27}}$ Here we make use of the fact that the hypermultiplet is free. For the interacting case, the one-loop determinant can depend nontrivially on the localization locus of the vector multiplet.

Note that $\overline{Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}}(\rho,\chi)} = (-1)^{\mathfrak{m}+m} Y_{j,-m}^{-\mathfrak{m}}(\rho,\chi)$ and thus $\overline{Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}}}$ and $Y_{j,-m}^{-\mathfrak{m}}$ are sections of the same line bundle \mathcal{S}_{-} . We take

$$Q = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N} + 1/2} \sum_{m=-j}^{+j} Q_{jm} Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}=1/2}, \qquad \widetilde{Q} = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N} + 1/2} \sum_{m=-j}^{+j} \widetilde{Q}_{jm} \overline{Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{m}=-1/2}}, \qquad (4.24)$$

and impose $\overline{Q_{jm}} = \widetilde{Q}_{jm}$.³⁰ Using the orthogonality condition

$$\int d\rho d\chi \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \, \overline{Y_{jm}^{-1/2}} \, Y_{j'm'}^{-1/2} = \delta_{jj'} \delta_{mm'} \,, \tag{4.25}$$

the two-dimensional action simplifies to

$$S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d} = 4\pi i \sum_{j=1/2}^{+\infty+1/2} \sum_{m=-j}^{+j} (j+1/2)Q_{jm}\overline{Q_{jm}}.$$
(4.26)

The partition function can now be computed easily and reads, up to some normalization constants,

$$Z_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d} = \prod_{j=0}^{+\infty} (j+1)^{2j+2} = \lim_{\substack{x\to 0\\b\to 1}} \prod_{m,n=0}^{+\infty} (mb+nb^{-1}+Q/2+x)(mb+nb^{-1}+Q/2-x)$$
$$= \lim_{\substack{x\to 0\\b\to 1}} \Upsilon\left(\frac{Q}{2}+x\right). \tag{4.27}$$

This shows that the one-loop determinant is indeed equal to one: $Z_{1-\text{loop}} = 1$.

4.5 Final result

The analysis of the previous few subsections shows that the free hypermultiplet on the four-sphere can be localized to a two-dimensional quantum field theory, described by the action $S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d}$ in equation (4.19). In formulae,

$$\int [D\Phi_{\rm HM}] \mathcal{O} e^{-S_{\rm HM}[\Phi_{\rm HM}]} = \int [DQD\tilde{Q}] \mathcal{O}|_{Q,\tilde{Q}} e^{-S_{\rm HM}^{2d}[Q,\tilde{Q}]}, \quad \text{if} \quad \mathcal{QO} = 0, \quad (4.28)$$

where Φ_{HM} collectively denotes all fields in the hypermultiplet. The localization argument only guarantees the above equality if the observables \mathcal{O} are annihilated by \mathcal{Q} . As the twodimensional theory describes the dynamics of Q and \tilde{Q} , it is natural to expect that, as far as local operators go, composites of these fields are good observables on the two-sphere. Indeed, it is easy to verify that

$$\mathcal{Q}Q\big|_{S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}} = 0, \qquad \mathcal{Q}\widetilde{Q}\big|_{S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}} = 0, \qquad (4.29)$$

and similarly for any composite made from the letters Q, \tilde{Q} and the operator \wp .³¹ It may be useful to note that the combinations Q and \tilde{Q} of elementary four-dimensional fields,

³⁰Recall that indeed Q and \tilde{Q} are related by a reality property.

³¹Note that if one wants to relate correlation functions computed on the four-sphere to those on flat space, one should construct a suitable basis of composite primary operators, see [47].

see (4.15), can also be obtained by performing a Q-closed (twisted) translation as on flat space (see section 2).

The two-dimensional theory is Gaussian, hence all correlators can be computed via Wick contractions. The key-ingredient is thus the propagator $G(\rho, \chi; \rho', \chi') = \langle Q(\rho, \chi) | \widetilde{Q}(\rho', \chi') \rangle = -\langle \widetilde{Q}(\rho, \chi) | Q(\rho', \chi') \rangle$. It should solve the differential equation

$$\overline{\wp} G(\rho, \chi; \rho', \chi') = -\frac{1}{4\pi i} \delta_{S^2}(\rho - \rho', \chi - \chi'), \qquad (4.30)$$

where $\delta_{S^2}(\rho - \rho', \chi - \chi')$ is the Dirac δ -function on S^2 , i.e.,

$$\int_{S^2} d\rho d\chi \sqrt{g_{S^2}} f(\rho, \chi) \delta_{S^2}(\rho - \rho', \chi - \chi') = f(\rho', \chi').$$
(4.31)

It is easy to show that in the equator patch

$$G^{(\text{eq})}(\rho,\chi;\rho',\chi') = \frac{-2i}{(4\pi r)^2} \,\frac{e^{-\frac{i}{2}(\chi-\chi')}\cos\left(\frac{\rho}{2}\right)\sin\left(\frac{\rho'}{2}\right) - e^{\frac{i}{2}(\chi-\chi')}\sin\left(\frac{\rho}{2}\right)\cos\left(\frac{\rho'}{2}\right)}{1 - (\sin\rho\sin\rho'\cos(\chi-\chi') + \cos\rho\cos\rho')} \tag{4.32}$$

is the solution.

There are two shortcuts to construct the above propagator. The first one leverages the Weyl transformation to flat space, discussed around (4.37). Starting form the standard flat space propagator of a symplectic boson pair, multiplying the appropriate conformal factors, performing a change of coordinates and finally rotating the frame as in (4.14) results in (4.32). The second one starts from the propagator of a massive free scalar field on the four-sphere. If one sets the mass to its conformal value, considers the combinations $Q_A^{(eq)}$ as in (4.15) and restricts oneself to the two-sphere $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$, the result (4.32) also follows. Let us give a few more details on the latter computation. The propagator for a free real scalar field of mass m on a four-sphere of radius r solves

$$(-\nabla^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + m^2) \ G_{S^4}(x, x'; m^2) = \delta_{S^4}(x - x') , \qquad (4.33)$$

where the delta-function is with respect to the four-sphere measure. The solution to (4.33) is given by [48]

$$G_{S^4}(x, x'; m^2) = \frac{1}{(4\pi r)^2} \Gamma(3/2 + \nu) \Gamma(3/2 - \nu) \,_2F_1\left(3/2 + \nu, 3/2 - \nu; 2; \cos^2\left(\frac{\mu(x, x')}{2r}\right)\right),\tag{4.34}$$

where ν is computed by $\nu^2 = \frac{9}{4} - (mr)^2$, and $\mu(x, x')$ denotes the geodesic distance between the points x and x'. This latter quantity is easily computed to be

$$\mu(x,x') = r \arccos\left(\cos\rho\cos\rho' + \sin\rho\sin\rho'\left(\cos\theta\cos\theta'\cos(\varphi - \varphi') + \sin\theta\sin\theta'\cos(\chi - \chi')\right)\right),$$
(4.35)

if $x = (\varphi, \chi, \theta, \rho)$ and $x' = (\varphi', \chi', \theta', \rho')$. As we are interested in conformally coupled scalars, we set

$$m^2 = \frac{\mathcal{R}}{6} = \frac{2}{r^2}, \qquad \nu = \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (4.36)

Noting that $_2F_1(2,1;2;y) = \frac{1}{1-y}$ and $\cos^2\left(\frac{1}{2}\arccos t\right) = \frac{1+t}{2}$, the propagator simplifies significantly. Finally, restricting the insertion points to the two-sphere at $\theta = \pi/2$ and considering the combinations Q, \tilde{Q} as in (4.15), one recovers (4.32).

In section 2, we reviewed that the chiral algebra associated to a free hypermultiplet is a symplectic boson pair. Let us show that the action $S_{\text{HM}}^{2d} = \int d^2x \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \mathcal{L}_{\text{HM}}^{2d}$ indeed describes a curved space version of the symplectic boson. We do so by performing a Weyl transformation. It is straightforward to verify that the Lagrangian density (4.16) multiplied by the measure $\sqrt{g_{S^2}}$ is invariant under the Weyl rescalings

$$g_{\mu\nu} \to \Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu} , \qquad \mathfrak{q}_A \to \Omega^{-1/2} \mathfrak{q}_A .$$

$$(4.37)$$

Let us then perform a Weyl recalling from S^2 to $\mathbb{R}^2 = \mathbb{C}$. In terms of the component Q_A of \mathfrak{q}_A , and using that $d^2x = -\frac{i}{2}dzd\bar{z}$, the action becomes

$$S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d,\mathbb{C}} = \frac{1}{2} \int dz d\bar{z} \ \epsilon^{AB} Q_A \,\partial_{\bar{z}} Q_B = -\int dz d\bar{z} \ \widetilde{Q} \,\partial_{\bar{z}} Q \,, \tag{4.38}$$

where once again $Q = Q_{A=1}$ and $\tilde{Q} = Q_{A=2}$. One can readily recognize this action as describing a symplectic boson pair.

The symplectic boson is a special instance of the more general $\beta\gamma$ -system, where β and γ have equal conformal weight. The $\beta\gamma$ -system can be placed canonically on an arbitrary Riemann surface Σ

$$S_{\beta\gamma} = \int_{\Sigma} \beta \bar{\partial} \gamma$$
, with $\beta \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma)$, $\gamma \in \Omega^{0,0}(\Sigma)$. (4.39)

As we now argue, our action (4.19) on the two-sphere is related to this action via a topological twist. The action (4.19) is written in terms of anti-chiral spinor components and it possesses a U(1) flavor symmetry.³² Denoting the anti-chiral spinor bundle as S_- and the flavor line bundle as L, the field Q is a section of $S_- \otimes L$ and \tilde{Q} is a section of $S_- \otimes L^{-1}$. Performing a topological twist, identifying L^{-1} with the line bundle S_- , and using that $S_- = (\Lambda^{1,0})^{\frac{1}{2}}$, one can turn Q into a section of $\Lambda^{0,0}$ and \tilde{Q} into one of $\Lambda^{1,0}$. The resulting action is then precisely (4.39).

5 Surface defects and chiral algebra modules

In the previous section, we have localized the theory of a free hypermultiplet to a twodimensional quantum field theory on $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$. The computation is compatible with the insertion of operators preserving the localizing supercharge. We have already considered the insertion of local operators, and will now turn attention to non-local operators. We consider the insertion of a surface defect preserving two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetry on the two-sphere $S^2_{\theta=0}$. We describe the defect by coupling the four-dimensional theory to additional degrees of freedom residing on $S^2_{\theta=0}$.

 $^{^{32}}$ More precisely, it has an SU(2) flavor symmetry. We focus on its Cartan here.

5.1 Embedding 2d $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ into 4d $\mathcal{N} = 2$

To couple lower-dimensional degrees of freedom to a higher-dimensional quantum field theory, it is convenient to decompose the higher-dimensional multiplets in terms of lowerdimensional ones while treating the extra coordinates as continuous labels. Indeed, such decomposition trivializes the task of writing the action coupling the two systems while manifestly preserving the lower-dimensional symmetries, in particular supersymmetry. Naturally, the decomposition depends on the embedding of the lower-dimensional algebra into the higher-dimensional one. Our first order of business is thus to specify the relevant embedding of the two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ superconformal algebra in the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal algebra. For convenience, we do so in flat space; a Weyl transformation easily maps the result to the four-sphere.

We start by briefly describing the relevant superalgebras. The non-zero anticommutation relations among the fermionic generators $\{Q_{I\alpha}, \tilde{Q}_{\dot{\alpha}}^{I}, S^{I\alpha}, \tilde{S}_{I}^{\dot{\alpha}}\}$ of the four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal algebra, i.e., $\mathfrak{su}(2, 2|2)$, are given by

$$\{\mathcal{Q}_{I\alpha}, \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{J}_{\dot{\alpha}}\} = \delta^{J}_{I} P_{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} , \qquad \{\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\dot{\alpha}}_{I}, \mathcal{S}^{J\alpha}\} = \delta^{J}_{I} K^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha} , \qquad (5.1)$$

$$\{\mathcal{Q}_{I\alpha}, \mathcal{S}^{J\beta}\} = \frac{1}{2}\delta_I^J \delta_\alpha^\beta \Delta + \delta_I^J \mathcal{M}_\alpha^{\ \beta} - \delta_\alpha^\beta \mathcal{R}_I^{\ J}, \qquad (5.2)$$

$$\{\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}_{I}^{\dot{\alpha}}, \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\dot{\beta}}^{J}\} = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{I}^{J} \delta_{\dot{\beta}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \Delta + \delta_{I}^{J} \mathcal{M}_{\dot{\beta}}^{\dot{\alpha}} + \delta_{\dot{\beta}}^{\dot{\alpha}} \mathcal{R}_{I}^{J}.$$
(5.3)

Here $P_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}$ and $K^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}$ are the usual generators for translation and special conformal transformation, Δ denotes the dilatation generator, and $\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{\dot{\beta}}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ are the rotational generators of $\mathfrak{su}(2)_1 \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)_2 = \mathfrak{so}(4)$. Together, $P_{\alpha\dot{\alpha}}, K^{\dot{\alpha}\alpha}, \Delta, \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{\dot{\beta}}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ generate the four-dimensional conformal algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2,2)$. Finally, $\mathcal{R}_I^{\ J}$ generate the R-symmetry $\mathfrak{su}(2)_R \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1)_r$. In particular, one has

$$\mathcal{M}^{\perp} = \mathcal{M}_{+}^{+} - \mathcal{M}^{+}_{\dot{+}}, \quad \mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_{+}^{+} + \mathcal{M}^{+}_{\dot{+}}, \quad \mathcal{R}_{1}^{-1} = \frac{1}{4}r + R, \quad \mathcal{R}_{2}^{-2} = \frac{1}{4}r - R, \quad (5.4)$$

expressing the generators rotating the (x_1, x_2) -plane and (x_3, x_4) -plane respectively, and relating the diagonal R-symmetry generators to the SU(2)_R Cartan generator R and the U(1)_r charge r.

The two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2,2)$ superconformal algebra is $\mathfrak{su}(1,1|1)_L \oplus \mathfrak{su}(1,1|1)_R$. The bosonic subgroup of one copy of the algebra, say $\mathfrak{su}(1,1|1)_L$, is $\mathfrak{su}(1,1)_L \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1)_L$. Here $\mathfrak{su}(1,1)_L$ is the spatial part, with standard generators $L_0, L_{\pm 1}$, and $\mathfrak{u}(1)_L$ is the left-moving R-symmetry generated by J_0 . We denote the left-moving Poincaré supercharges as $G_{-\frac{1}{2}}^{\pm}$ and conformal supercharges as $G_{+\frac{1}{2}}^{\pm}$. Some of the (anti)commutation relations involving the supercharges are

$$[L_0, G_r^{\pm}] = -rG_r^{\pm}, \quad [J_0, G_r^{\pm}] = \pm G_r^{\pm}, \quad \{G_r^+, G_s^-\} = L_{r+s} + \frac{r-s}{2}J_{r+s}, \quad \text{for } r, s = \pm \frac{1}{2}.$$
(5.5)

We will denote the generators of the right-moving algebra $\mathfrak{su}(1,1|1)_R$ with a bar.

The two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ superconformal algebra can be embedded in the fourdimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal algebra in various ways. Let us choose to orient the embedded plane along the (x_1, x_2) -directions. For the purposes of this paper, we make the following identifications between two-dimensional supercharges and four-dimensional supercharges:³³

$$\begin{array}{ll}
G^{+}_{-\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{Q}_{2+}, & G^{-}_{-\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{Q}^{2}_{-}, & \bar{G}^{+}_{-\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{Q}_{1-}, & \bar{G}^{-}_{-\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{Q}^{1}_{+}, \\
G^{+}_{+\frac{1}{2}} = \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{-}_{2}, & G^{-}_{+\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{S}^{2+}, & \bar{G}^{+}_{+\frac{1}{2}} = \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{+}_{1}, & \bar{G}^{-}_{+\frac{1}{2}} = \mathcal{S}^{1-}.
\end{array} \tag{5.6}$$

The identification of the bosonic generators $L_0, L_{\pm 1}, J_0$ and their barred versions follow immediately by matching the anticommutation relations among the supercharges. In particular, one finds for the two-dimensional vector and axial R-symmetries

 $R_V = J_0 + \bar{J}_0 = r$, $R_A = J_0 - \bar{J}_0 = -4R - 2\mathcal{M}^{\perp}$. (5.7)

It is important to remark that the supercharges \mathbb{Q}_1 and \mathbb{Q}_2 of section 2 (see in particular footnote 4) are contained in the embedded two-dimensional algebra. This implies that an $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ preserving surface defect, transverse to the chiral algebra plane, participates in the cohomological construction of section 2, as claimed there already. Similarly, after performing a Weyl transformation, it means that our localization computation can be enriched by inserting an $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ superconformal surface defect along $S^2_{\theta=0}$. (See below for more details.) Also note that $R + \mathcal{M}^{\perp}$ is central to the embedding.

Finally, by analyzing the supersymmetry variations, it is easy to verify that the fourdimensional hypermultiplet scalars q_{1A} , for A = 1, 2, are the bottom components of twodimensional *twisted* chiral multiplets, and thus the hypermultiplet decomposes into a pair of twisted chiral multiplets (and their complex conjugate twisted anti-chiral multiplets).^{34,35}

5.2 4d/2d coupled system on S^4

Returning to our setup on the four-sphere, we are interested in describing the defect as a 4d/2d coupled system. As explained above, the two-dimensional theory resides on $S^2_{\theta=0}$. It is useful to recall that a massive two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetric theory can be placed on the two-sphere while preserving the symmetry algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)$. Its $\mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1)$

³⁴Recall that the bottom component of the two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetric multiplets in the left column of the following table are annihilated by the (Poincaré) supercharges in the right column

multiplet	supercharges annihilating bottom component
chiral	$G^{-}_{-rac{1}{2}}, \bar{G}^{-}_{-rac{1}{2}}$
anti-chiral	$G^+_{-\frac{1}{2}}, \bar{G}^+_{-\frac{1}{2}}$
twisted chiral	$G^{-}_{-\frac{1}{2}}, \bar{G}^{+}_{-\frac{1}{2}}$
twisted anti-chiral	$G^{+}_{-\frac{1}{2}}, \bar{G}^{-}_{-\frac{1}{2}}$

Here we have omitted the less standard semi-chiral multiplets.

³⁵The four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ vector multiplet decomposes in a two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ twisted vector multiplet and a twisted chiral multiplet.

³³This embedding has, for example, also been described in detail in appendix A of [12].

bosonic subalgebra consists of the spatial isometries of the two-sphere $\mathfrak{su}(2) \simeq \mathfrak{so}(3)$ and a $\mathfrak{u}(1)$ subalgebra of the vector and axial R-symmetry. The background preserving $\mathfrak{u}(1)_V$ is called the A-background, while the one preserving $\mathfrak{u}(1)_A$ is called the B-background [37, 49]. Momentarily, we will show that the localizing supercharge \mathcal{Q} defined in 3.2 resides in $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$. One preliminary indication that this is the case is the fact that its square (3.18) equals a sum of a rotation of $S^2_{\theta=0}$ and, as can be read off from (5.7), the vector R-symmetry. Consequentially, our localization computation can proceed in the absence of a conformal UV Lagrangian description of the defect theory.

To verify the above statement, we show that the reduction of the four-dimensional Killing spinors $\xi_{I\alpha}, \tilde{\xi}_I^{\dot{\alpha}}$ of (3.13)–(3.14) to $S_{\theta=0}^2$ carry the vector and axial R-symmetry charges and satisfy the two-dimensional Killing spinor equation relevant for the $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$ background. As explained in appendix A.1, the reduction of arbitrary four-dimensional two-component chiral and anti-chiral spinors $\psi_{\alpha}, \tilde{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}}$ to $S_{\theta=0}^2$ is given by³⁶

$$\psi \to \psi^{2d} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1 + \psi_2 \\ \psi_1 - \psi_2 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{\psi} \to \tilde{\psi}^{2d} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\psi}^1 - \tilde{\psi}^2 \\ \tilde{\psi}^1 + \tilde{\psi}^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.8)

Applied to the Killing spinors $\xi_{I\alpha}, \tilde{\xi}_{I}^{\dot{\alpha}}$, we find (two-dimensional) (anti-)chiral spinors. We define $\epsilon, \tilde{\epsilon}$ by

$$\xi_{I=1} \to 2P_{-}\epsilon, \qquad \xi_{I=2} \to -2P_{+}\epsilon, \qquad \tilde{\xi}_{I=1} \to 2P_{+}\tilde{\epsilon}, \qquad \tilde{\xi}_{I=2} \to 2P_{-}\tilde{\epsilon}.$$
 (5.9)

Here $P_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \gamma_3)$ is the (two-dimensional) projection operator onto chiral/anti-chiral spinors. These definitions ensure that $\epsilon_{\pm} \equiv P_{\pm}\epsilon$ both carry one unit of U(1)_V charge and have opposite U(1)_A charge, while $\tilde{\epsilon}_{\pm}$ both have U(1)_V charge minus one and once again opposite U(1)_A charge. Moreover, the two-dimensional spinors can be shown to satisfy the equations

$$\nabla^{2d}_{\mu}\epsilon = \frac{1}{2r}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{3}\epsilon, \qquad \nabla^{2d}_{\mu}\tilde{\epsilon} = -\frac{1}{2r}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{3}\tilde{\epsilon}.$$
(5.10)

The U(1)_V and U(1)_A charge assignments of the two-dimensional Killing spinors and the equations they satisfy together prove that they indeed define a supercharge in $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$. Note that the Killing spinors ϵ and $\tilde{\epsilon}$ precisely describe the supercharge used to localize two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ theories (in the A-background) on the two-sphere [36, 37, 49–51].

Before starting to analyze the 4d/2d coupled system, we provide the detailed decomposition of the four-dimensional hypermultiplet in a pair of two-dimensional twisted chiral multiplets $\Theta_A = (\phi_{\Theta_A}, \tilde{\phi}_{\Theta_A}, \eta_{\Theta_A}, \tilde{\eta}_{\Theta_A}, G_{\Theta_A}, \tilde{G}_{\Theta_A})$:

$$\begin{aligned}
\phi_{\Theta_A} &\equiv q_{1A}, & \tilde{\phi}_{\Theta_A} \equiv -q_{2A}, \\
\eta_{\Theta_A} &\equiv 2\tilde{\psi}_A^{2d}, & \tilde{\eta}_{\Theta_A} \equiv 2\gamma_3\psi_A^{2d}, \\
G_{\Theta_A} &\equiv -(D_2 - iD_3)\tilde{\phi}_{\Theta_A} + i\cot\frac{\rho}{2}F_{1A} \\
\tilde{G}_{\Theta_A} &\equiv -(D_2 + iD_3)\phi_{\Theta_A} - i\tan\frac{\rho}{2}F_{2A}.
\end{aligned}$$
(5.11)

³⁶Recall that the vielbein on $S^2_{\theta=0}$ are induced from those on the four-sphere as in (3.4) and that our gamma-matrices are chosen as in footnote 26.

One can verify that the four-dimensional supersymmetry transformations of these fields, when restricted to $S_{\theta=0}^2$, indeed precisely reproduce those of twisted chiral multiplets of Weyl weight $\Delta_{\Theta_A} = 1$ placed on a two-sphere. The latter are, for example, given in formula 4.3 of [50].³⁷ We emphasize that D_2 and D_3 (are proportional to) derivatives along the χ and θ directions, which are orthogonal to the two-sphere $S_{\theta=0}^2$.

In the absence of four-dimensional gauge fields, the coupling between the fourdimensional and two-dimensional degrees of freedom takes place via superpotentials. More precisely, since the free hypermultiplet decomposes in a pair of twisted chiral multiplets, such coupling is implemented by a twisted superpotential. Let the native two-dimensional degrees of freedom be described by some theory \mathcal{T}_{2d} involving vector multiplets, twisted vector multiplets, chiral multiplets and twisted chiral multiplets.³⁸ Let $\Lambda = (\phi, \tilde{\phi}, \eta, \tilde{\eta}, G, \tilde{G})_{\Lambda}$ collectively denote the twisted chiral multiplets and $\Sigma = (\sigma_2 + i\sigma_1, \sigma_2 - i\sigma_1, \lambda, \tilde{\lambda}, D - \frac{\sigma_2}{r} + iF_{12}, D - \frac{\sigma_2}{r} - iF_{12})$ the twisted chiral field strength multiplet. The most general twisted superpotential describing the coupling between \mathcal{T}_{2d} and the four-dimensional free hypermultiplet, as well as any additional native two-dimensional twisted superpotential couplings, is then described by a holomorphic function $\widetilde{W}(\phi_{\Sigma}, \phi_{\Lambda}, \phi_{\Theta})$. It enters in the Lagrangian as [50]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm tc} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm tc}^{\rm 2d} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm tc}^{\rm 4d/2d} = \left[\frac{i}{r}\widetilde{W}(\phi) - i\frac{\partial\widetilde{W}}{\partial\phi_j}\left(G_j + \frac{\Delta_j}{r}\phi_j\right) - \frac{\partial^2\widetilde{W}(\phi)}{\partial\phi_j\partial\phi_k}(\tilde{\eta}_k P_-\eta_j)\right] + \text{c.c.} \quad (5.12)$$

Here \mathcal{L}_{tc}^{2d} denotes the Lagrangian describing the twisted superpotential couplings among native two-dimensional degrees of freedom only, while $\mathcal{L}_{tc}^{4d/2d}$ are all other terms in \mathcal{L}_{tc} , i.e., the terms describing the coupling between the four-dimensional and two-dimensional degrees of freedom.³⁹ Furthermore, the indices j, k, \ldots run over Σ, Λ, Θ (and their subindices) and are summed over in the standard way, Δ denotes the Weyl weight of the respective multiplet and the complex conjugation simply replaces the function $\widetilde{W}(\phi_{\Sigma}, \phi_{\Lambda}, \phi_{\Theta_A})$ by $\widetilde{W}(\tilde{\phi}_{\Sigma}, \tilde{\phi}_{\Lambda}, -\epsilon^{AB}\tilde{\phi}_{\Theta_B})$.

The total action of the 4d/2d coupled system of interest in this paper is thus

$$S_{\text{total}} = S_{\text{HM}}^{S^4} + S_{\mathcal{T}_{2d}}^{S^2_{\theta=0}} + \int_{S^2_{\theta=0}} d^2 x \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \, \mathcal{L}_{\text{tc}}^{\text{4d/2d}} \,.$$
(5.13)

For localization purposes, it is important to note that the kinetic terms for native twodimensional vector multiplets, twisted vector multiplets, chiral multiplets and twisted chiral multiplets are all Q-exact, and so are any superpotential couplings. The Lagrangian \mathcal{L}_{tc} of (5.12) describing the twisted superpotential couplings, however, is Q-closed but not exact.

³⁷Note that the notations η and $\tilde{\eta}$ are slightly misleading since the fields with and without tilde do not separate in multiplets. Rather, $(\phi, \eta_-, \tilde{\eta}_+, G)$ form a twisted chiral multiplet, while $(\tilde{\phi}, \tilde{\eta}_-, \eta_+, \tilde{G})$ form a twisted anti-chiral multiplet.

³⁸We do not consider the less standard semi-chiral multiplets.

³⁹Note that if one were to write the four-dimensional free hypermultiplet action in terms of its reduced twisted chiral multiplets on the two-sphere, additional twisted superpotential terms would occur.

5.3 Localization of 4d/2d coupled system on S^4

To perform a localization computation of the 4d/2d coupled system, one starts by localizing the theory \mathcal{T}_{2d} describing the dynamics of the native two-dimensional degrees of freedom. Since, as remarked in the above subsection, the supercharge with respect to which the localization computation is to be performed is the standard choice in $\mathfrak{su}(2|1)_A$, the results of [36, 37, 49, 50] are directly applicable.⁴⁰ We refer the readers to these papers for all details on the computation.

It is relevant to stress that the classical action evaluated on the BPS configurations receives only nontrivial contributions from the twisted superpotential terms, as all other actions are Q-exact. In the computation at hand, one finds in particular a non-zero contribution from $\int_{S^2_{\theta=0}} d^2x \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \mathcal{L}^{4d/2d}_{tc}$. To obtain a detailed understanding of the effect of the 4d/2d twisted superpotential coupling, we summarize the BPS configurations of multiplets that enter \widetilde{W} :

twisted chiral:
$$\phi_{\Lambda} = \text{const}, \quad \tilde{\phi}_{\Lambda} = \text{const}, \quad G_{\Lambda} + \frac{\Delta_{\Lambda}}{r}\phi_{\Lambda} = \tilde{G}_{\Lambda} + \frac{\Delta_{\Lambda}}{r}\tilde{\phi}_{\Lambda} = 0,$$

vector: $\sigma_1 = -\frac{B}{2r}, \quad \sigma_2 = \text{const}, \quad F_{12} = \frac{B}{2r^2}, \quad D = 0, \quad (5.14)$

where B is a GNO quantized (constant) magnetic flux through the two-sphere. We thus find for the evaluation of \mathcal{L}_{tc} on the two-dimensional localization locus

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm tc} = \left[\frac{i}{r}\widetilde{W}(\phi) - i\frac{\partial\widetilde{W}}{\partial\phi_{\Theta}}\left(G_{\Theta} + \frac{1}{r}\phi_{\Theta}\right) - \frac{\partial^{2}\widetilde{W}(\phi)}{\partial\phi_{\Theta}\partial\phi_{\Theta}}(\tilde{\eta}_{\Theta}P_{-}\eta_{\Theta})\right] + \text{c.c.}$$
(5.15)

Here $\widetilde{W}(\phi)$ is still a holomorphic function of the scalar bottom components of all twisted chiral multiplets Σ, Λ, Θ , but with ϕ_{Λ} and ϕ_{Σ} set to constants as in (5.14). Note also that we used that the Weyl weights Δ_{Θ_A} of the twisted chiral multiplets Θ_A obtained from the reduction of the free hypermultiplet equal one.

As a next step, one performs the localization of the four-dimensional free hypermultiplet. The computation is identical to the one in section 4, except for that we additionally need to evaluate the twisted superpotential 4d/2d coupling. To do so, we first remark that all fermions in the hypermultiplet are set to zero, and then observe that the BPS equations (4.6) imply that at the locus $\theta = 0$ the combinations (5.11) satisfy

at
$$\theta = 0$$
: $G_{\Theta_A} \sin \rho = +\frac{1}{r} \partial_{\rho} ((1 + \cos \rho) \phi_{\Theta_A}), \quad \tilde{G}_{\Theta_A} \sin \rho = -\frac{1}{r} \partial_{\rho} ((1 - \cos \rho) \tilde{\phi}_{\Theta_A}).$
(5.16)

It is then straightforward to verify that the Lagrangian term (5.15) multiplied with the integration measure simplifies to a total ρ -derivative:

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{g_{S^2_{\theta=0}}} \left[\frac{i}{r} \widetilde{W}(\phi) - i \frac{\partial \widetilde{W}}{\partial \phi_{\Theta}} \left(G_{\Theta} + \frac{1}{r} \phi_{\Theta} \right) \right] &= -\frac{i}{r} \partial_{\rho} \left((1 + \cos \rho) \widetilde{W}(\phi) \right) \\ \sqrt{g_{S^2_{\theta=0}}} \left[\frac{i}{r} \widetilde{W}(\tilde{\phi}) - i \frac{\partial \widetilde{W}}{\partial \tilde{\phi}_{\Theta}} \left(\tilde{G}_{\Theta} + \frac{1}{r} \tilde{\phi}_{\Theta} \right) \right] &= +\frac{i}{r} \partial_{\rho} \left((1 - \cos \rho) \widetilde{W}(\tilde{\phi}) \right). \end{split}$$

⁴⁰The localization of non-abelian twisted vector multiplets has not yet appeared in the literature.

Note that here we used that the profiles of the native two-dimensional fields entering in the twisted superpotential is constant. Recalling that on the localization locus both two-dimensional and four-dimensional fields are independent of φ , it is trivial to perform the integral over $S^2_{\theta=0}$. We find

$$S_{\rm tc} = \int_0^{2\pi} d\varphi \int_0^{\pi} d\rho \sqrt{g_{S^2_{\theta=0}}} \mathcal{L}_{\rm tc} = 4\pi i r \Big[\widetilde{W}(\phi_{\Theta}(\rm NP), \phi_{\Lambda}, \phi_{\Sigma}) + \widetilde{W}(\tilde{\phi}_{\Theta}(\rm SP), \tilde{\phi}_{\Lambda}, \tilde{\phi}_{\Sigma}) \Big],$$
(5.17)

where NP denotes the north pole $\rho = 0$ and SP the south pole $\rho = \pi$. As before ϕ_{Λ} and ϕ_{Σ} are set to constants as in (5.14). It is also useful to recall that

$$\phi_{\Theta_A}(\mathrm{NP}) = Q_A^{(\mathrm{N})}(\mathrm{NP}), \qquad \tilde{\phi}_{\Theta_A}(\mathrm{SP}) = -iQ_A^{(\mathrm{S})}(\mathrm{SP}). \tag{5.18}$$

In summary, the partition function of our 4d/2d coupled system is given by

$$Z_{\rm 4d/2d} = \sum [d\phi_{\rm 2d}] Z_{\rm 1-loop}(\phi_{\rm 2d}) \int [DQD\widetilde{Q}] e^{-S_{\rm HM}^{2d}[Q,\widetilde{Q}]} e^{-4\pi i r \left[\widetilde{W}(\phi_{\Theta}(NP),\phi_{\Lambda},\phi_{\Sigma}) + \widetilde{W}(\tilde{\phi}_{\Theta}(SP),\tilde{\phi}_{\Lambda},\tilde{\phi}_{\Sigma})\right]}.$$
(5.19)

Here ϕ_{2d} collectively denotes the localization locus of the two-dimensional theory \mathcal{T}_{2d} . The one-loop determinant of quadratic fluctuations of the two-dimensional theory is denoted $Z_{1-\text{loop}}(\phi_{2d})$. Once again, in the twisted superpotential, ϕ_{Λ} and ϕ_{Σ} are set to constants as in (5.14).⁴¹ Note that the localization computation can be extended to compute correlators also for the coupled system. As in subsection 4.5 the computation is compatible with the insertion of composites of Q and \tilde{Q} on $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$. Moreover, we can also insert two-dimensional Q-closed observables. In particular, polynomials in the scalar fields $\phi_{\Lambda}, \phi_{\Sigma}$ and $\tilde{\phi}_{\Lambda}, \tilde{\phi}_{\Sigma}$ of the twisted chiral multiplets Λ, Σ can be inserted at the north pole and south pole respectively. It may be useful to remark that the twisted superpotential can be reinterpreted as the insertion of a particular pair of mixed 4d/2d observables $\tilde{V}_{\text{NP/SP}}$ at the north pole and south pole:

$$\widetilde{V}_{\rm NP} \equiv e^{-4\pi i r \widetilde{W}(\phi_{\Theta}({\rm NP}),\phi_{\Lambda},\phi_{\Sigma})}, \qquad \widetilde{V}_{\rm SP} \equiv e^{-4\pi i r \widetilde{W}(\tilde{\phi}_{\Theta}({\rm SP}),\tilde{\phi}_{\Lambda},\tilde{\phi}_{\Sigma})}.$$
(5.20)

Also note that the additional insertions of two-dimensional observables at the poles of $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$ are a crucial ingredient to build the module of the chiral algebra, as explained at the end of section 2, and as we will explore in more detail in the next subsection.

5.4 Computing structure constants of chiral algebra modules

In section 2, we reviewed that the insertion of a surface defect — orthogonal to the chiral algebra plane and preserving $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetry on its worldvolume — translates to considering a module M of the chiral algebra. The localization results of the previous subsection allow us to analyze this module quantitatively.

For the class of 4d/2d coupled systems under consideration, the space M is easily identified. Its basis e_i is given by all words built from the elementary letters $Q, \tilde{Q}, \phi_{\Lambda}, \phi_{\Sigma}$ and \wp . The latter acts on Q and \tilde{Q} only. Precisely these combinations can be inserted at

⁴¹Note that these constant profiles are integrated over by the integral $\oint [d\phi_{2d}]$.

the north pole in the localized path integral. Some care has to be taken when inserting composites of Q, \tilde{Q} at the north pole, as there already is an insertion of $\tilde{V}_{\rm NP}$ present there. We regularize the resulting divergence by subtracting off the contractions of the composite and $\tilde{V}_{\rm NP}$. Let us next define a dual space M^* . Its basis e^i comprises all words strung from the elementary letters $Q, \tilde{Q}, \tilde{\phi}_{\Lambda}, \tilde{\phi}_{\Sigma}$ and \wp inserted at the south pole. We can define a sesquilinear form

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : M^* \times M \to \mathbb{C} \tag{5.21}$$

defined by

$$\langle e^{j}, e_{i} \rangle = \frac{1}{Z_{4d/2d}} \sum [d\phi_{2d}] Z_{1-\text{loop}}(\phi_{2d}) \int [DQD\tilde{Q}] \left(e^{j} \tilde{V}_{SP} \right) \left(e_{i} \tilde{V}_{NP} \right) e^{-S_{\text{HM}}^{2d}[Q,\tilde{Q}]}.$$
(5.22)

and extended by sesquilinearity. Here the brackets around $e_i \tilde{V}_{\rm NP}$ denote the regularization mentioned above, and similarly for $e^j \tilde{V}_{\rm SP}$. In other words, no contractions should be considered within the bracketed combinations. It will be useful to introduce the notation $N_i^{\ j} \equiv \langle e^j, e_i \rangle$. We will assume that N is invertible.

The algebra acts on the module M as explained around (2.9). We would like to compute the structure constants defined in (2.10). Using the path integral it is more convenient to consider the action of the Schur operator $a(\rho, \chi)$ as a field. The action of individual modes can afterwards be easily extracted. On the basis element e_i , we thus have

$$a(\rho, \chi) \cdot e_i = \sum_k \lambda_{ai}^{\ \ k}(\rho, \chi) \ e_k \,. \tag{5.23}$$

Taking the pairing with e^{j} , one finds

$$\langle e^j, a(\rho, \chi) \cdot e_i \rangle = \sum_k \lambda_{ai}{}^k(\rho, \chi) \ \langle e^j, e_k \rangle = \sum_k \lambda_{ai}{}^k(\rho, \chi) \ N_k{}^j.$$
(5.24)

Isolating the structure constants is then, in principle, straightforward:

$$\lambda_{ai}{}^{k}(\rho,\chi) = \sum_{j} (N^{-1})_{j}{}^{k} \langle e^{j}, a(\rho,\chi) \cdot e_{i} \rangle .$$
(5.25)

Note that the right-hand side of this expression can be computed explicitly from the path integral using (5.22) and

$$\langle e^{j}, a(\rho, \chi) \cdot e_{i} \rangle = \frac{1}{Z_{\rm 4d/2d}} \sum [d\phi_{\rm 2d}] Z_{\rm 1-loop}(\phi_{\rm 2d}) \int [DQD\tilde{Q}] \left(e^{j} \tilde{V}_{\rm SP} \right) a(\rho, \chi) \left(e_{i} \tilde{V}_{\rm NP} \right) e^{-S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d}[Q,\tilde{Q}]}.$$

$$\tag{5.26}$$

The expression (5.25) provides a concrete tool to verify the dependence of the module on coupling constants. (See footnote 10 for the definition of when a module is said to depend on a parameter.) Unfortunately, in practice, evaluating (5.25) is not a computation that can be finished in finite time. It seems quite unlikely though that for any choice of two-dimensional degrees of freedom \mathcal{T}_{2d} and any choice of twisted superpotential coupling the native two-dimensional degrees of freedom to the four-dimensional ones, the parameter dependence would drop out. In other words, generically, one would expect the module to depend on coupling constants. It would be very interesting to find a way to make this statement concrete, either in an example, or abstractly.

6 Discussion and future directions

In this paper we have used supersymmetric localization techniques to show that the chiral algebra associated with four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ superconformal quantum field theories is accessible directly in the path integral. We did so for the specific case of the free hypermultiplet. We extended the localization computation to include surface defects and showed that this point of view provides a computational handle on properties of the resulting chiral algebra modules not easily accessible by other methods. Many future directions present themselves. We list a few of the most promising ones:

• In this paper we have focused on the four-dimensional free hypermultiplet. Extending the computation to also include vector multiplets is an obvious next step. It is relatively straightforward to convince oneself that the vector multiplet BPS locus is not purely bosonic. In other words, the deformation action admits fermionic zero-modes around the bosonic BPS configurations. Taking these fermionic zero-modes into account properly presumably works along the lines of [52–55]. The classical action for the vector multiplet, when evaluated on the solutions of the (complex) BPS equations, can be shown to reduce to an action on the two-sphere $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$, as can the gauged hypermultiplet action. We present these computations in appendix B.2. Finally, one should evaluate the one-loop determinants.

Note that in the absence of any operator insertions, one is simply computing the four-sphere partition function and should thus reproduce the results of [30]. It would be particularly fascinating to see how the instanton contributions are captured in this alternative localization computation. An intriguing, and possibly relevant, observation made in [56] is that the dual instanton partition function has a description in terms of correlators constructed from chiral fermions.

- The structure of a chiral algebra is naturally quite rigid. Nevertheless, one should study if and to what extent the computation presented in this paper can be deformed, either geometrically, by deforming the four-sphere, or field theoretically, by turning on BPS configurations for various background fields. Note that deformations of the latter kind were observed to be feasible in a similar computation on the three-sphere [20]. In appendix B.3 we consider the effect on the partition function of an example of such a deformation. Moreover, if the localization computation goes through on the squashed four-sphere, it would be extremely interesting to consider the non-canonical deformation action used in the Higgs branch localization computations of [32, 42].
- In this paper we have considered the insertion of defects orthogonal to the chiral algebra sphere. To be compatible with the localizing supercharge, these defects had to preserve two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ supersymmetry. It is easy to verify that the localizing supercharge is also compatible with the insertion of defects on the chiral algebra sphere if they preserve two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (0, 4)$ supersymmetry. The insertion of such defects is expected to modify the structure of the resulting two-dimensional theory nontrivially. In appendix B.4, we describe a simple singular

profile for a (background) vector multiplet representing such a defect. One could also consider exploring systems of intersecting surface defects, as initiated in [57]. (See also [58].)

• The four-sphere partition function of four-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories of class \mathcal{S} features prominently in the AGT correspondence [59]. It seems natural to expect that the new representation of the four-sphere partition function obtained in this paper, and in particular its extension to include vector multiplets mentioned above, will provide new perspectives on this correspondence and on its relationship to the chiral algebras associated to theories of class \mathcal{S} [5, 18].

We hope to report on progress on some of these problems in the future.

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Chris Beem, Guido Festuccia, Jaume Gomis, Pietro Longhi, Leonardo Rastelli, Balt van Rees, Martin Rocek, Yifan Wang and Maxim Zabzine for helpful conversations and useful suggestions. Y.P. is supported in part by Vetenskapsrådet under grant #2014-5517, by the STINT grant and by the grant "Geometry and Physics" from the Knut and Alice Wallenberg foundation. The work of W.P. is supported in part by the DOE grant DOE-SC0010008.

A Reduction of spinors

In section 4 we showed that the theory of the free hypermultiplet reduces to a quantum field theory defined on the submanifold $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$, while in section 5 we studied the coupling of the four-dimensional theory to native degrees of freedom on the submanifold $S_{\theta=0}^2$. In this appendix we elaborate on an important technical step in these computations, namely the reduction of four-dimensional spinors to these two-spheres.

In general, the first step to reduce spinors onto a two-dimensional submanifold $\Sigma \subset S^4$ is to find a suitable similarity transformation U_{Σ} that casts the four-dimensional Γ -matrices in a useful Kronecker product form. Let $E^{A=1,2,3,4}$ denote the vielbein on the four-sphere S^4 . Without loss of generality, we assume that the restriction to the submanifold Σ is such that $E^{\alpha}|_{\Sigma} = e^1$, $E^{\beta}|_{\Sigma} = e^2$, for some α, β , where $e^{a=1,2}$ are vielbein on Σ . We then look for a similarity transformation U_{Σ} such that

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\text{new}} = U_{\Sigma}\Gamma_{\alpha}U_{\Sigma}^{-1} = \gamma_1 \otimes (\ldots), \qquad \Gamma_{\beta}^{\text{new}} = U_{\Sigma}\Gamma_{\beta}U_{\Sigma}^{-1} = \gamma_2 \otimes (\ldots), \qquad (A.1)$$

Here the (...) are two-dimensional matrices. Note that the choice of U_{Σ} is not unique: the freedom can be exploited to obtain maximal simplicity. Let us then consider any fourcomponent spinor Ψ on S^4 . When acted on by the transformation U_{Σ} , it can be written in a tensor product form $U_{\Sigma}\Psi = \psi^{2d} \otimes (...) + \tilde{\psi}^{2d} \otimes (...)$, where (...) are simple, constant two-component columns. The action of four-dimensional gamma-matrices on the spinor Ψ can be straightforwardly reduced to an action on the spinors $\psi^{2d}, \tilde{\psi}^{2d}$. Let us apply this logic to the two cases of interest.

A.1 Reduction onto $\Sigma = S_{\theta=0}^2$

Let us first consider the reduction onto $S^2_{\theta=0}$. The four-dimensional vielbein reduce as $E^4 \to e^1$, $E^1 \to e^2$, where $e^1 = rd\rho$, $e^2 = r \sin \rho d\varphi$ are the vielbein on $S^2_{\theta=0}$. We choose the transformation matrix $U_{\theta=0}$ to be

$$U_{\theta=0} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \begin{array}{l} \Gamma_1^{\text{new}} = \gamma_2 \otimes \gamma_1 \\ \Gamma_4^{\text{new}} = \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_1 \\ \Gamma_2^{\text{new}} = \gamma_3 \otimes \gamma_1 \\ \Gamma_3^{\text{new}} = \mathbb{1}_{2 \times 2} \otimes \gamma_2 \end{array}$$
(A.2)

In this new representation, a four-component spinor $\Psi = (\psi_{\alpha}, \tilde{\psi}^{\dot{\alpha}})$ on S^4 is rotated into

$$\Psi^{\text{new}} = U_{\theta=0}\Psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1 + \psi_2\\ \tilde{\psi}^1 - \tilde{\psi}^2\\ \psi_1 - \psi_2\\ \tilde{\psi}^1 + \tilde{\psi}^2 \end{pmatrix} = \psi^{2d} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \tilde{\psi}^{2d} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.3)$$

where $\psi^{2d} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\psi_1 + \psi_2, \psi_1 - \psi_2)^T, \quad \tilde{\psi}^{2d} \equiv \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\tilde{\psi}^1 - \tilde{\psi}^2, \tilde{\psi}^1 + \tilde{\psi}^2)^T.$ The induced action of the τ and $\tilde{\tau}$ metrices (or equivalently

The induced action of the σ - and $\tilde{\sigma}$ -matrices (or equivalently the four-dimensional Γ -matrices) on the two-dimensional spinors ψ^{2d} and $\tilde{\psi}^{2d}$ is simply

$$\sigma_1 \tilde{\psi} \to \gamma_2 \tilde{\psi}^{2d}, \quad \sigma_2 \tilde{\psi} \to \gamma_3 \tilde{\psi}^{2d}, \quad \sigma_3 \tilde{\psi} \to -i \tilde{\psi}^{2d}, \quad \sigma_4 \tilde{\psi} \to \gamma_1 \tilde{\psi}^{2d}$$
(A.4)

$$\tilde{\sigma}_1 \psi \to \gamma_2 \psi^{2d}, \quad \tilde{\sigma}_2 \psi \to \gamma_3 \psi^{2d}, \quad \tilde{\sigma}_3 \psi \to +i\psi^{2d}, \quad \tilde{\sigma}_4 \psi \to \gamma_1 \psi^{2d}.$$
 (A.5)

The two-dimensional inner product of spinors is defined to be $(\psi^{2d}\chi^{2d}) \equiv (\psi^{2d})^T (i\tau_2)\chi$. It is related to the four-dimensional inner product between two-component undotted spinors ψ and χ and between dotted spinors $\tilde{\psi}$ and $\tilde{\chi}$ by $(\psi\chi) = (\psi^{2d}\chi^{2d}), (\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\chi}) = (\tilde{\psi}^{2d}\tilde{\chi}^{2d})$.

A.2 Reduction onto $\Sigma = S_{\theta=\pi/2}^2$

Next, we consider the reduction onto $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$. The four-dimensional vielbein reduce as $E^4 \to e^1, E^2 \to e^2$, where $e^1 = rd\rho, e^2 = r\sin\rho d\chi$ are the vielbein on $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$. We choose $U_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$ to be

$$U_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -i & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -i & 1 \\ -i & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -i \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \begin{array}{c} \Gamma_4^{\text{new}} = \gamma_1 \otimes \gamma_1 \\ \Gamma_2^{\text{new}} = \gamma_2 \otimes \gamma_1 \\ \Gamma_3^{\text{new}} = \gamma_3 \otimes \gamma_1 \\ \Gamma_1^{\text{new}} = \mathbb{1}_{2 \times 2} \otimes \gamma_2 \end{array}$$
(A.6)

In this new representation

$$\Psi^{\text{new}} = U_{\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}} \Psi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \psi_1 - i\psi_2 \\ -i\tilde{\psi}^1 + \tilde{\psi}^2 \\ -i\psi_1 + \psi_2 \\ \tilde{\psi}^1 - i\tilde{\psi}^2 \end{pmatrix} = \psi^{2d} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \tilde{\psi}^{2d} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.7)$$

where $\psi^{2d} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\psi_1 - i\psi_2, -i\psi_1 + \psi_2)^T$, $\tilde{\psi}^{2d} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(-i\tilde{\psi}^1 + \tilde{\psi}^2, \tilde{\psi}^1 - i\tilde{\psi}^2)^T$. The action of the σ - and $\tilde{\sigma}$ -matrices reduce as

$$\sigma_1 \tilde{\psi} \to -i \tilde{\psi}^{2d}, \quad \sigma_2 \tilde{\psi} \to \gamma_2 \tilde{\psi}^{2d}, \quad \sigma_3 \tilde{\psi} \to \gamma_3 \tilde{\psi}^{2d}, \quad \sigma_4 \tilde{\psi} \to \gamma_1 \tilde{\psi}^{2d}$$
(A.8)

$$\tilde{\sigma}_1 \psi \to +i\psi^{2d}, \quad \tilde{\sigma}_2 \psi \to \gamma_2 \psi^{2d}, \quad \tilde{\sigma}_3 \psi \to \gamma_3 \psi^{2d}, \quad \tilde{\sigma}_4 \psi \to \gamma_1 \psi^{2d}.$$
 (A.9)

In section 2, we encountered the spinorial combinations $\mathbf{q}_A \equiv q^I_A \xi_I$, $\tilde{\mathbf{q}}_A \equiv q^I_A \tilde{\xi}_I$. Using the explicit expression for the Killing spinors (3.13)–(3.14), the corresponding fourcomponent spinor $(\mathbf{q}_{A\alpha}, \tilde{\mathbf{q}}_A^{\dot{\alpha}})$ reduces to

$$(\mathfrak{q}_{A\alpha}, \tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_A^{\dot{\alpha}}) \to (i-1) \mathfrak{q}_A^{2\mathrm{d}} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - (1+i) \mathfrak{q}_A^{2\mathrm{d}} \otimes \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (A.10)

where $\mathfrak{q}_A^{2d} \equiv (0, e^{-\frac{i\chi}{2}}\cos(\frac{\rho}{2})q_{1A} - i\lambda e^{+\frac{i\chi}{2}}\sin(\frac{\rho}{2})q_{2A})^T$ is an anti-chiral spinor on $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$.⁴² We note that, although we start with two pairs of spinors \mathfrak{q}_A , $\tilde{\mathfrak{q}}_A$ in four dimensions, only a single anti-chiral pair \mathfrak{q}_A^{2d} appears in the reduction.

Again, the two-dimensional inner product of spinors is given by $(\psi^{2d}\chi^{2d}) \equiv (\psi^{2d})^T (i\tau_2)\chi$, and is related to the four-dimensional inner product between two-component undotted spinors ψ and χ and between dotted spinors $\tilde{\psi} \tilde{\chi}$ as $(\psi\chi) = -(\psi^{2d}\chi^{2d}), (\tilde{\psi}\tilde{\chi}) = -(\tilde{\psi}^{2d}\tilde{\chi}^{2d}).$

B Vector multiplets and gauged hypermultiplets

In the main text we performed the localization computation of free hypermultiplets in great detail. In this appendix we would like to collect some results on the localization of vector multiplets and gauged hypermultiplets. In appendix B.1 we analyze in some detail the BPS equations for the vector multiplet. Next, we evaluate the classical actions of the vector multiplet and gauged hypermultiplet on solutions of the complex BPS equations and show that they both reduce to an action on the two-sphere $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$. In appendix B.3 we consider a particularly interesting solution to the vector multiplet BPS equations and compute the partition function of the resulting two-dimensional theories with this background turned on. Finally, in appendix B.4 we analyze in some more detail a singular solution to the vector multiplet equations and show that it corresponds to an $\mathcal{N} = (0, 4)$ preserving surface defect on $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$.

B.1 BPS equations for the vector multiplet

We would like to study solutions to the vector multiplet BPS equations. The relevant equations were given in (3.8) and we reproduce them here for convenience.

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} \sigma^{\mu\nu} \xi_I + 2D_{\mu} \phi \sigma^{\mu} \tilde{\xi}_I + \phi \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \tilde{\xi}_I + 2i \xi_I [\phi, \tilde{\phi}] + D_{IJ} \xi^J$$
(B.1)

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{\xi}_I + 2D_\mu \tilde{\phi} \tilde{\sigma}^\mu \xi_I + \tilde{\phi} \tilde{\sigma}^\mu D_\mu \xi_I - 2i \tilde{\xi}_I [\phi, \tilde{\phi}] + D_{IJ} \tilde{\xi}^J .$$
(B.2)

⁴²This expression for \mathfrak{q}_A^{2d} is valid in the patch U_{eq} of the two-sphere, as that is the region of validity of the vielbein we used. See footnote 25 for more details on the patches and the frame rotations between them.

From these complex BPS equations, one can derive that $R^{\mu}F_{\mu\nu} = D_{\nu}(s\tilde{\phi} + \tilde{s}\phi)$, and as a result, $R^{\mu}D_{\mu}(s\tilde{\phi} + \tilde{s}\phi) = 0$. Moreover, one finds

$$D_{IJ} = -\frac{1}{4s^2} \Big[-2sF_{\mu\nu} + 4(R \wedge d_A\phi)_{\mu\nu} - 4i(\xi^K \sigma_{\mu\nu}\xi'_K)\phi \Big] \Theta_{IJ}^{\mu\nu} = +\frac{1}{4\tilde{s}^2} \Big[-2\tilde{s}F_{\mu\nu} + 4(R \wedge d_A\tilde{\phi})_{\mu\nu} + 4i(\tilde{\xi}^K \tilde{\sigma}_{\mu\nu}\tilde{\xi}'_K)\tilde{\phi} \Big] \widetilde{\Theta}_{IJ}^{\mu\nu}.$$
(B.3)

Here $\Theta_{IJ}^{\mu\nu} = (\xi_I \sigma^{\mu\nu} \xi_J)$ and similarly $\widetilde{\Theta}_{IJ}^{\mu\nu} = (\tilde{\xi}_I \tilde{\sigma}^{\mu\nu} \tilde{\xi}_J)$. These relations and expressions will be particularly useful when we evaluate the classical vector and hypermultiplet actions in appendix B.2.

Let us now impose the reality conditions

$$\phi^{\dagger} = -\tilde{\phi} \Leftrightarrow \phi = \frac{1}{2}(\phi_2 - i\phi_1), \quad \tilde{\phi} = \frac{1}{2}(-\phi_2 - i\phi_1), \qquad A^{\dagger} = A \Leftrightarrow F^{\dagger} = F, \quad (B.4)$$

but keep the auxiliary field D_{IJ} complex. Here ϕ_1, ϕ_2 are real/hermitian fields. The motivation for treating D_{IJ} separately comes from the observation that in fact the auxiliary field $D_{11}(0)$ is a Schur operator. The BPS equations (B.1) and (B.2) can then be decomposed into their real and imaginary parts. We find

$$0 = [\phi_1, \phi_2],$$
(B.5)

$$0 = D_{\mu}(\cos\theta\sin\rho(\cos\varphi\phi_1 + \sin\varphi\phi_2)), \quad 0 = D_{\varphi}(\cos\theta\sin\rho(-\sin\varphi\phi_1 + \cos\varphi\phi_2)), \quad (B.6)$$

$$F = * \left(d_A \left(\frac{r \cos \theta \sin \rho \phi_2}{\cos \varphi} d\varphi \right) \right) + * ((s\tilde{s})^{-1} R \wedge \mathcal{D}), \tag{B.7}$$

as well as

$$\operatorname{\mathbb{R}e} D_{12} = -\lambda \sin \theta \tan \frac{\rho}{2} (\operatorname{Im} D_{22} \sin \chi + \operatorname{\mathbb{R}e} D_{22} \cos \chi)$$
(B.8)

$$\operatorname{Im} D_{11} = -\lambda \tan \frac{\rho}{2} \left(+2\sin\chi \sin\theta \operatorname{Im} D_{12} + \lambda \operatorname{Re} D_{22} \tan \frac{\rho}{2} \right)$$
(B.9)

$$\mathbb{R}e D_{11} = +\lambda \tan \frac{\rho}{2} \left(-2\cos\chi \sin\theta \operatorname{Im} D_{12} + \lambda \operatorname{Im} D_{22} \tan \frac{\rho}{2} \right).$$
(B.10)

In a slight abuse of notation, we introduced one-forms $R = R_a e^a$, $R^{IJ} = R_a^{IJ} e^a$, and $\mathcal{D} = D_{IJ} R^{IJ}$. The latter satisfies $R^{\mu} \mathcal{D}_{\mu} = 0$. If one further imposes the standard reality condition on the auxiliary field, namely $D_{IJ}^{\dagger} = -D^{IJ}$, then one can easily see that \mathcal{D} vanishes on the BPS locus. Therefore, the one-form \mathcal{D} captures the deviation of D_{IJ} from the real contour.

The scalars $\phi_{1,2}$ are constrained by the equations in (B.6). The left equation implies that

$$\cos\varphi\phi_1 + \sin\varphi\phi_2 = \frac{\phi_+}{\cos\theta\sin\rho},\tag{B.11}$$

in terms of a (covariantly) constant matrix ϕ_+ . The right equation of (B.6) then becomes

$$D_{\varphi}\left[\cos\theta\sin\rho\left(-\frac{\phi_{+}\sin\varphi}{\cos\theta\sin\rho\cos\varphi} + \frac{\phi_{2}}{\cos\varphi}\right)\right] = 0.$$
(B.12)

For smooth solutions, one should set $\phi_+ = 0$. In appendix B.4, however, we will show that the singular profile described by ϕ_+ defines an interesting surface operator. Note also that equation (B.7) can be solved for \mathcal{D} as

$$\mathcal{D} = \iota_R * F - \iota_R d_A \left(\frac{r \cos \theta \sin \rho \phi_2}{\cos \varphi} d\varphi \right).$$
(B.13)

Finally, (B.7) also implies $\iota_R F = 0$.

Let us finally discuss a special solution to these equations, where we do impose the standard reality properties on all fields. In particular, we set $\mathcal{D} = 0$. The Bianchi identity applied to (B.7) then states that

$$d_{A^{\Phi}}F^{\Phi} \propto d_{A^{\Phi}} \ast \left(d_{A^{\Phi}} \left(\frac{r \cos \theta \sin \rho \phi_2}{\cos \varphi} d\varphi \right) \right) = 0 \Rightarrow d_{A^{\Phi}} \left(\frac{r \cos \theta \sin \rho \phi_2}{\cos \varphi} d\varphi \right) = 0.$$
(B.14)

Plugging this back into the BPS equations for the field strength simply sets F = 0. Moreover, the simple fact that ϕ_2 commutes with itself implies that

$$D_{\chi,\theta,\rho}\left(\frac{r\cos\theta\sin\rho\phi_2}{\cos\varphi}\right) = 0 \Rightarrow D_{\mu}\left(\frac{\cos\theta\sin\rho\phi_2}{\cos\varphi}\right) = 0.$$
(B.15)

Hence the combination $\cos^{-1}\varphi(\cos\theta\sin\rho\phi_2)$ is again covariantly constant, and we have

$$\cos\theta\sin\rho\phi_2 = \cos\varphi\phi_-\,,\tag{B.16}$$

with another covariantly constant matrix ϕ_{-} . For smooth BPS solutions, $\phi_{-} = 0$, but it is relevant for the defect described in appendix B.4. In summary, the smooth BPS solutions along the real D_{IJ} -contour are given by the trivial configuration

$$\phi_1 = 0, \qquad \phi_2 = 0, \qquad F = 0, \qquad D_{IJ} = 0.$$
 (B.17)

This result is puzzling, since it seems too trivial to reproduce the known result for the four-sphere partition function [30]. This provides an additional motivation to relax certain reality properties as we did above.

It is also important to remark, and relatively easy to verify, that the deformation action admits fermionic zero-modes around the bosonic configurations discussed here. As it is beyond the scope of this appendix, we do not present the details of these fermionic zero-modes. The vector multiplet localization computation should take these zero-modes into account properly.

B.2 Evaluating classical actions

In section 4.3, we evaluated the classical action of a free hypermultiplet on the solutions of the complex BPS equations described by (4.5). In this appendix, we present the generalization of that computation to hypermultiplets coupled to a dynamical vector multiplet. We find that both the vector multiplet and gauged hypermultiplet action reduce to a two-dimensional action.

The relevant complex BPS equations for the gauged hypermultiplet are

$$D_{\varphi}q_{IA} = -\frac{ir}{2\kappa_0}(s\tilde{\phi} + \tilde{s}\phi)_A{}^B q_{IB}, \tag{B.18}$$

$$F_{JA} = -\frac{1}{\tilde{s}} \left[2(\hat{\xi}_{I'} \sigma^{\mu} \tilde{\xi}_{I}) D_{\mu} q^{I}{}_{A} + (\hat{\xi}_{I'} \sigma^{\mu} D_{\mu} \tilde{\xi}_{I}) q^{I}{}_{A} + 4i(\hat{\xi}_{I'} \xi_{I}) \tilde{\phi}^{A}{}_{B} q^{IB} \right]$$
(B.19)
$$= +\frac{1}{s} \left[2(\tilde{\xi}_{I'} \tilde{\sigma}^{\mu} \xi_{I}) D_{\mu} q^{I}{}_{A} + (\tilde{\xi}_{I'} \tilde{\sigma}^{\mu} D_{\mu} \xi_{I}) q^{I}{}_{A} + 4i(\tilde{\xi}_{I'} \tilde{\xi}_{I}) \phi^{A}{}_{B} q^{IB} \right] .$$

Using these equations together with the complex BPS equations expressing the auxiliary field D_{IJ} given in (B.3), the bosonic part of the hypermultiplet action (3.12) can be shown to become

$$S_{\rm HM} = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \nabla_{\mu} \left[\frac{1}{s\tilde{s}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\delta} R_{\lambda} R^{IJ}_{\delta} D_{\nu} q^A_J q_{IA} - \frac{2i}{\tilde{s}} (\tilde{\xi}_K \tilde{\sigma}^{\mu} \xi'_I) q^{KA} q^I_A \right. \\ \left. + \frac{i}{s\tilde{s}} (s\tilde{\phi} - \tilde{s}\phi)_{AB} R^{\mu}_{IJ} q^{IA} q^{JB} \right], \tag{B.20}$$

while the bosonic part of the vector multiplet action (3.11) reduces to

$$S_{\rm VM} = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \nabla_\mu \operatorname{tr} \left[-8i\tilde{s}^{-1} \tilde{K}^\mu \phi \tilde{\phi} - (s\tilde{s})^{-1} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} R_\nu F_{\alpha\beta} (s\tilde{\phi} - \tilde{s}\phi) \right].$$
(B.21)

In the latter we defined $\tilde{K}^{\mu} \equiv (\xi'^{I} \sigma^{\mu} \tilde{\xi}_{I}).$

Let us first focus on S_{HM} . The BPS equation (B.18) implies that gauge invariant combinations of q_{IA} are independent of the coordinate φ . Therefore the total derivative $\partial_{\mu}(\sqrt{g}[\ldots]^{\mu})$ in the above action is in fact a three-dimensional total derivative $\partial_{\bar{\mu}}(\sqrt{g}[\ldots]^{\bar{\mu}})$, with $\bar{\mu} = \chi, \theta, \rho$. At this point we can perform the φ -integral. Also notice that the index ν in $D_{\nu}q_J^A$ inside the bracket can never take the value φ . We are left with the hypermultiplet action as a three-dimensional integral. By Stokes' theorem, it reduces to a two-dimensional action on $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$

$$S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d}[\mathfrak{q}] = -2\pi r \int \sqrt{g_{S^2}} d\rho d\chi \left[\Omega^{AB} \epsilon^{\mu\nu} (\mathfrak{q}_A^{\rm 2d} \gamma_\mu D_\nu^{\rm 2d} \mathfrak{q}_B^{\rm 2d}) + \frac{i(s\tilde{\phi} - \tilde{s}\phi)_{AB} R_{IJ}^3}{4\kappa^2 \lambda^2 \cos\theta \sin\rho} q^{IA} q^{JB} \bigg|_{\theta \to \pi/2} \right],$$

where D^{2d}_{μ} contains the BPS vector multiplet gauge field A_{μ} . It acts on the indices $A, B = 1, \ldots, 2N$ in the appropriate way. For smooth ϕ and $\tilde{\phi}$, the second term goes to zero in the $\theta \to \frac{\pi}{2}$ limit. Similarly to section 4.3, the action can finally be written more explicitly as

$$S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d}[Q] = -4\pi i \int d\chi d\rho \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \ \widetilde{Q} \ \overline{\wp}_A \ Q \,, \tag{B.22}$$

where $\overline{\wp}_A$ is the gauged monopole-charge-lowering operator of monopole charge $\mathfrak{m} = \frac{1}{2}$.

Let us now consider the vector multiplet action $S_{\rm VM}$. Recall from around (B.3) that

$$R^{\nu}F_{\mu\nu} + D_{\mu}(\tilde{s}\phi + s\tilde{\phi}) = 0, \quad R^{\mu}D_{\mu}(s\tilde{\phi}) = -R^{\mu}D_{\mu}(\tilde{s}\phi) = i[\tilde{s}\phi, s\tilde{\phi}].$$
(B.23)

As a result, up to a gauge transformation, $s\tilde{\phi}$, $\tilde{s}\phi$ and F are independent of φ . We can thus first perform the φ integration. Then completely similarly to the analysis of the hypermultiplet, the action can be written as a total derivative to which we can apply Stokes' theorem. We end up with an action on $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$

$$S_{\rm VM} = 2\pi \int d\chi d\rho \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \operatorname{tr} \left[-4\phi \tilde{\phi} + \frac{1}{r \sin^2 \rho} F_{\chi\rho} (s \tilde{\phi} - \tilde{s} \phi) \Big|_{\theta \to \pi/2} \right].$$
(B.24)

One can verify that for smooth ϕ , $\tilde{\phi}$, the second term vanishes and we have

$$S_{\rm VM} = -8\pi \int d\chi d\rho \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \, \mathrm{tr}(\phi \tilde{\phi}) \Big|_{\theta \to \pi/2} \,. \tag{B.25}$$

In view of the fact that the vector multiplet possesses fermionic zero-modes, it is of interest to also consider the fermionic part of the super Yang-Mills action. We will show here that it also reduces to a two-dimensional action. For simplicity, we consider the free limit, where $g_{\rm YM} = 0$. In this case, the fermionic part consists of the Dirac action,

$$S_{\text{Dirac}} \propto \int d^4x \sqrt{g_{S^4}} \operatorname{tr}(\lambda^I \sigma^\mu \nabla_\mu \tilde{\lambda}_i).$$
 (B.26)

Let us define $\Lambda^{\mu} \equiv (\lambda^{I} \sigma^{\mu} \tilde{\xi}_{I}), \tilde{\Lambda}^{\mu} \equiv (\xi^{I} \sigma^{\mu} \tilde{\lambda}^{I})$. The BPS equations impose various conditions on Λ and $\tilde{\Lambda}$, including⁴³

$$R^{\mu}\Lambda_{\mu} = 0, \quad R^{\mu}\tilde{\Lambda}_{\mu} = 0, \quad \tilde{\Lambda} = -\Lambda_{\mu} + i\partial_{\mu}c \,, \quad \mathcal{L}_{R}\Lambda = 0, \quad R^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}c = 0 \,. \tag{B.27}$$

Using the identities

$$\lambda^{I} = \frac{1}{\tilde{s}} (\lambda^{L} \sigma^{\lambda} \tilde{\xi}_{L}) \sigma_{\lambda} \tilde{\xi}^{I}, \qquad \tilde{\lambda}_{I} = \frac{1}{s} (\xi^{K} \sigma^{\mu} \tilde{\lambda}_{K}) \tilde{\sigma}_{\mu} \xi_{I}, \qquad (B.28)$$

one can straightforwardly derive that

$$S_{\text{Dirac}} \propto \int d^4 x \sqrt{g_{S^4}} \nabla_\mu \operatorname{tr}(\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}(s\tilde{s})^{-1} R_\lambda \Lambda_\nu \Lambda_\rho) \,, \tag{B.29}$$

which reduces to

$$S_{\text{Dirac}} \propto 2\pi r \int d\rho d\chi \sqrt{g_{S^2}} \operatorname{tr} \Lambda_2 \Lambda_4 \,.$$
 (B.30)

B.3 Some Gaussian integrals

Let us define an interesting BPS background configuration for the vector multiplet. We take the auxiliary fields D_{IJ} to be complex, so that in fact there exist nontrivial, smooth BPS configurations. We choose the gauge group to be SU(N) and take A_{μ} at $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$ to have an $\mathfrak{su}(N)$ Cartan-valued monopole-like profile,

$$A|_{S^2_{\theta=\pi/2}} \sim \operatorname{diag}(\mathfrak{a}_1, \dots, \mathfrak{a}_N)(\cos \rho - 1)d\chi, \qquad \sum_{a=1}^N \mathfrak{a}_a = 0.$$
(B.31)

 $^{^{43}}$ We have used the BPS equations as they follow from the gauge-fixed vector multiplet, hence the appearance of the *c*-ghost. While in intermediate steps the ghost will appear in various places, in the final result it drops out.

We recall that any SU(N) bundle over S^2 is trivial as π_1 SU(N) = $\{e\}$. Therefore, unlike U(1) monopoles, there is no quantization condition on \mathfrak{a} . The fact that the SU(N)-bundle over $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$ is trivial also implies that one can extend A_{μ} into the interior of $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$ and therefore to the entire four-sphere.

Let us consider fundamental hypermultiplets coupled to this vector multiplet background. The relevant two-dimensional theory is described by the action (B.22). We would like to compute the resulting partition function. Following the discussion in subsection 4.4, we expand the components of Q and \tilde{Q} in the basis of harmonics $Y_{jm}^{1/2}$ and $\overline{Y_{jm}^{-1/2}}$ respectively, with complex conjugate coefficients Q_{ajm} and $\overline{Q_{ajm}}$. Here $a = 1, \ldots, N$ is the gauge index. Using the orthonormality properties of $Y_{im}^{\mathfrak{m}}$, the action simplifies to

$$S_{\rm HM}^{\rm 2d} = 4\pi i \sum_{a=1}^{N} \sum_{j',j=1/2}^{+\infty+1/2} \sum_{m'=-j'}^{+j'} \sum_{m=-j}^{+j} \overline{Q_{aj'm'}} \\ \times \left[(j+1/2)\delta_{mm'}\delta_{jj'} - \mathfrak{a}_{a\ \frac{1}{2}} \langle j'm' | \frac{\cos\rho - 1}{\sin\rho} | jm \rangle_{\frac{1}{2}} \right] Q_{ajm} , \qquad (B.32)$$

where the second term in the square bracket is given by 44

$${}_{\frac{1}{2}}\langle j'm'|\frac{\cos\rho-1}{\sin\rho}|jm\rangle_{\frac{1}{2}} \equiv \int \sqrt{g_{S^2}}d\rho d\chi \ \overline{Y_{j'm'}^{-1/2}(\rho,\chi)} \frac{\cos\rho-1}{\sin\rho} Y_{jm}^{1/2}(\rho,\chi)$$

$$= \ \delta_{mm'}\frac{m}{|m|} \left[-\delta_{jj'} + 2(\delta_{j'>j}\delta_{m<0} + \delta_{j'0})(-1)^{j'+j} \sqrt{\frac{(-\min_{j,j'}-|m|)_{2|m|}}{(-\max_{j,j'}-|m|)_{2|m|}}} \right]$$

Here we used the Pochhammer symbol $(x)_n \equiv \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} (x+k)$, and the delta function $\delta_p = 1$ if the proposition p is true and $\delta_p = 0$ otherwise.

Using this result, one can perform the Gaussian integral in (B.32) explicitly, and one finds up to some unimportant constant prefactors,

$$Z_{\text{HM}} = \lim_{b \to 1} \prod_{a=1}^{N} \Upsilon_b \left(\frac{b+b^{-1}}{2} + \mathfrak{a}_a \right) \,. \tag{B.33}$$

Quite curiously, this is precisely the one-loop determinant for a gauged hypermultiplet. Quite possibly, this result implies that the monopole-configuration we turned on plays an essential role in the full localization computation including dynamical vector multiplets.

As reviewed in section 2, the chiral algebra associated with the free vector multiplet is a small (b, c) ghost system. Without derivation, but given our experience of section 4, we consider the following action on $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$

$$S_{\rm VM}^{\rm 2d} = \int \sqrt{g_{S^2}} d\rho d\chi \ \operatorname{tr} b \left(\partial_\rho - \frac{i}{\sin \rho} \partial_\chi \right) c \,. \tag{B.34}$$

Here b and c are fermionic scalars in the adjoint representation. Let us perform a simple check by comparing its partition function to the partition function of a four-dimensional

⁴⁴We checked the final equality with Mathematica systematically to very large j and j'.

free vector multiplet. We expand c and b as

$$b = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-j}^{+j} b_{jm} \overline{Y_{jm}^{s=1}}, \quad c = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-j}^{+j} c_{jm} Y_{jm}^{s=0} = c_0 Y_{00}^{s=0} + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-j}^{+j} c_{jm} Y_{jm}^{s=0}, \quad (B.35)$$

and assume the reality condition $\overline{b_{jm}} = c_{jm}$. Note that we separated out the *c* zero-mode. This mode is absent in the small (b, c) ghost system. Each root contributes to the partition function as

$$\prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \sqrt{j(j+1)}^{2j+1} = \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \sqrt{j}^{2j+1} \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \sqrt{j+1}^{2j+1}$$
(B.36)

$$=\prod_{j=1}^{\infty} (j+1)^{2(j+1)} = \prod_{m,n \ge 0} (m+n+2)(m+n)'$$
(B.37)

$$=\lim_{x\to 0} \frac{\Upsilon(x)_{b=1}}{x} \,. \tag{B.38}$$

Raising this result to the power of the dimension of the gauge group, we indeed recover the partition function of a free vector multiplet.

Let us finally consider the small (b, c) ghost system in the presence of the background defined in (B.31). The action on $S^2_{\theta=\pi/2}$ then reads

$$S_{\rm VM}^{\rm 2d} = \int \sqrt{g_{S^2}} d\rho d\chi \ \operatorname{tr} b \left(\partial_\rho - \frac{i}{\sin \rho} (\partial_\chi - iA_\chi) \right) c \,, \tag{B.39}$$

We again expand the components of b, c in terms of $\overline{Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{q}=-1}}$ and $Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{q}=0}$. Representing the adjoint $\mathrm{SU}(N)$ index in terms of a fundamental and antifundamental index, we obtain

$$S_{\rm VM}^{\rm 2d} = \sum_{a,b} \sum_{j'=1}^{+\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{+\infty} \sum_{m'=-j'}^{+j'} \sum_{m=-j}^{+j} \overline{(c_b^a)_{j'm'}} \left(\sqrt{j(j+1)} - (\mathfrak{a}_a - \mathfrak{a}_b)_1 \langle j'm' | \frac{\cos \rho - 1}{\sin \rho} | jm \rangle_0 \right) (c_a^b)_{jm},$$
(B.40)

where

$${}_{1}\langle j'm'|\frac{\cos\rho-1}{\sin\rho}|jm\rangle_{0} = \int \sqrt{g_{S^{2}}}d\rho d\chi \ \overline{Y_{j'm'}^{\mathfrak{q}=-1}} \ \frac{\cos\rho-1}{\sin\rho} \ Y_{jm}^{\mathfrak{q}=0}.$$
 (B.41)

Finally, performing the Gaussian integrals, we find

$$Z_{\rm VM}(\mathfrak{a}) = \prod_{a>b} \frac{\Upsilon(\mathfrak{a}_a - \mathfrak{a}_b)\Upsilon(-\mathfrak{a}_a + \mathfrak{a}_b)}{(\mathfrak{a}_a - \mathfrak{a}_b)^2} = Z_{1\text{-loop-vector}}^{S^4}(\mathfrak{a}), \qquad (B.42)$$

up to some numerical prefactors.

B.4 (0,4)-supersymmetric singular configurations

In appendix B.1 we encountered interesting singular solutions to the vector multiplet BPS equations. In this appendix we would like to show that they define a surface defect that preserves two-dimensional (0, 4) superconformal symmetry. We do so by finding all conformal Killing spinors under which the profile is supersymmetric.

The singular profile for the vector multiplet scalars is paramterized by two commuting constant matrices ϕ_+ , ϕ_- ,

$$\phi = \frac{1}{2\sin\rho\cos\theta} e^{+i\varphi}(\phi_+ - i\phi_-), \qquad \tilde{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2\sin\rho\cos\theta} e^{-i\varphi}(\phi_+ - i\phi_-), \qquad (B.43)$$

and the field strength and auxiliary field are set to zero.⁴⁵

It is easy to verify that an eight-parameter family of conformal Killing spinors preserves the above singular profile. Concretely,

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{1} &= \alpha_{1}^{-1,1} \cos \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(+\theta+\varphi-\chi)} \\ e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta+\varphi-\chi)} \end{pmatrix} + \alpha_{1}^{11} \sin \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta+\varphi+\chi)} \\ -e^{\frac{i}{2}(+\theta+\varphi+\chi)} \end{pmatrix} \\ \xi_{2} &= \alpha_{2}^{-1,1} \cos \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(+\theta+\varphi-\chi)} \\ e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta+\varphi-\chi)} \end{pmatrix} + \alpha_{2}^{1,1} \sin \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta+\varphi+\chi)} \\ -e^{\frac{i}{2}(+\theta+\varphi+\chi)} \end{pmatrix} \\ \tilde{\xi}_{1} &= \tilde{\alpha}_{1}^{-1,-1} \cos \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta-\varphi-\chi)} \\ e^{\frac{i}{2}(+\theta-\varphi-\chi)} \end{pmatrix} + \tilde{\alpha}_{1}^{1,-1} \sin \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(+\theta-\varphi+\chi)} \\ -e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta-\varphi+\chi)} \end{pmatrix} \\ \tilde{\xi}_{2} &= \tilde{\alpha}_{2}^{-1,-1} \cos \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta-\varphi-\chi)} \\ e^{\frac{i}{2}(+\theta-\varphi-\chi)} \end{pmatrix} + \tilde{\alpha}_{2}^{1,-1} \sin \frac{\rho}{2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{\frac{i}{2}(+\theta-\varphi+\chi)} \\ -e^{\frac{i}{2}(-\theta-\varphi+\chi)} \end{pmatrix} , \end{aligned}$$
(B.44)

with constants $\alpha_I^{\pm 1,\pm 1}$ and $\tilde{\alpha}_I^{\pm 1,\pm 1}$. The subalgebra generated by the corresponding supercharges is precisely the (centrally extended) two-dimensional $\mathcal{N} = (0,4)$ superalgebra on $S_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}^2$.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- C. Beem, M. Lemos, P. Liendo, W. Peelaers, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, *Infinite Chiral Symmetry in Four Dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys.* 336 (2015) 1359 [arXiv:1312.5344]
 [INSPIRE].
- [2] P. Liendo, I. Ramirez and J. Seo, Stress-tensor OPE in N = 2 superconformal theories, JHEP 02 (2016) 019 [arXiv:1509.00033] [INSPIRE].
- [3] M. Lemos and P. Liendo, N = 2 central charge bounds from 2d chiral algebras, JHEP 04 (2016) 004 [arXiv:1511.07449] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Cornagliotto, M. Lemos and V. Schomerus, Long Multiplet Bootstrap, JHEP 10 (2017) 119 [arXiv:1702.05101] [INSPIRE].
- [5] M. Lemos and W. Peelaers, Chiral Algebras for Trinion Theories, JHEP 02 (2015) 113 [arXiv:1411.3252] [INSPIRE].
- [6] C. Beem and L. Rastelli, Vertex operator algebras, Higgs branches and modular differential equations, arXiv:1707.07679 [INSPIRE].

⁴⁵Note that the space $S^4 - S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$ is not simply-connected, and therefore flat connections can have nontrivial holonomy around the sphere $S^2_{\theta=\frac{\pi}{2}}$.

- M. Buican and T. Nishinaka, On the superconformal index of Argyres-Douglas theories, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 015401 [arXiv:1505.05884] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C. Cordova and S.-H. Shao, Schur Indices, BPS Particles and Argyres-Douglas Theories, JHEP 01 (2016) 040 [arXiv:1506.00265] [INSPIRE].
- [9] M. Buican and T. Nishinaka, Argyres-Douglas Theories, the Macdonald Index and an RG Inequality, JHEP 02 (2016) 159 [arXiv:1509.05402] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Song, Superconformal indices of generalized Argyres-Douglas theories from 2d TQFT, JHEP 02 (2016) 045 [arXiv:1509.06730] [INSPIRE].
- [11] C. Cordova, D. Gaiotto and S.-H. Shao, Infrared Computations of Defect Schur Indices, JHEP 11 (2016) 106 [arXiv:1606.08429] [INSPIRE].
- [12] C. Cordova, D. Gaiotto and S.-H. Shao, Surface Defect Indices and 2d-4d BPS States, JHEP 12 (2017) 078 [arXiv:1703.02525] [INSPIRE].
- [13] M. Buican and T. Nishinaka, On Irregular Singularity Wave Functions and Superconformal Indices, JHEP 09 (2017) 066 [arXiv:1705.07173] [INSPIRE].
- [14] A. Neitzke and F. Yan, Line defect Schur indices, Verlinde algebras and U(1)_r fixed points, JHEP 11 (2017) 035 [arXiv:1708.05323] [INSPIRE].
- [15] T. Arakawa and K. Kawasetsu, *Quasi-lisse vertex algebras and modular linear differential* equations, arXiv:1610.05865 [INSPIRE].
- [16] C. Beem and W. Peelaers, work in progress.
- T. Arakawa and A. Moreau, Joseph ideals and lisse minimal W-algebras, arXiv:1506.00710 [INSPIRE].
- [18] C. Beem, W. Peelaers, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, *Chiral algebras of class S*, *JHEP* 05 (2015) 020 [arXiv:1408.6522] [INSPIRE].
- [19] V. Pestun, Localization of the four-dimensional N = 4 SYM to a two-sphere and 1/8 BPS Wilson loops, JHEP 12 (2012) 067 [arXiv:0906.0638] [INSPIRE].
- [20] M. Dedushenko, S.S. Pufu and R. Yacoby, A one-dimensional theory for Higgs branch operators, arXiv:1610.00740 [INSPIRE].
- [21] C. Cordova, D. Gaiotto and S.-H. Shao, Surface Defects and Chiral Algebras, JHEP 05 (2017) 140 [arXiv:1704.01955] [INSPIRE].
- [22] C. Beem, W. Peelaers and L. Rastelli, work in progress.
- [23] C. Beem, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, W symmetry in six dimensions, JHEP 05 (2015) 017 [arXiv:1404.1079] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S.M. Chester, J. Lee, S.S. Pufu and R. Yacoby, *Exact Correlators of BPS Operators from the* 3d Superconformal Bootstrap, JHEP 03 (2015) 130 [arXiv:1412.0334] [INSPIRE].
- [25] C. Beem, W. Peelaers and L. Rastelli, Deformation quantization and superconformal symmetry in three dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 354 (2017) 345 [arXiv:1601.05378]
 [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Gadde, L. Rastelli, S.S. Razamat and W. Yan, Gauge Theories and Macdonald Polynomials, Commun. Math. Phys. 319 (2013) 147 [arXiv:1110.3740] [INSPIRE].
- [27] G. Festuccia and N. Seiberg, Rigid Supersymmetric Theories in Curved Superspace, JHEP 06 (2011) 114 [arXiv:1105.0689] [INSPIRE].

- [28] N. Hama and K. Hosomichi, Seiberg-Witten Theories on Ellipsoids, JHEP 09 (2012) 033
 [Addendum ibid. 10 (2012) 051] [arXiv:1206.6359] [INSPIRE].
- [29] V. Pestun, Localization for N = 2 Supersymmetric Gauge Theories in Four Dimensions, in New Dualities of Supersymmetric Gauge Theories, J. Teschner ed., Mathematical Physics Studies, Springer (2016), pp. 159–194 [arXiv:1412.7134].
- [30] V. Pestun, Localization of gauge theory on a four-sphere and supersymmetric Wilson loops, Commun. Math. Phys. 313 (2012) 71 [arXiv:0712.2824] [INSPIRE].
- [31] J. Wess and J. Bagger, *Supersymmetry and Supergravity*, Princeton Series in Physics, Princeton University Press (1992).
- [32] Y. Pan and W. Peelaers, Ellipsoid partition function from Seiberg-Witten monopoles, JHEP 10 (2015) 183 [arXiv:1508.07329] [INSPIRE].
- [33] E. Witten, Topological Quantum Field Theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 117 (1988) 353 [INSPIRE].
- [34] E. Witten, Mirror manifolds and topological field theory, hep-th/9112056 [INSPIRE].
- [35] V. Pestun et al., Localization techniques in quantum field theories, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 440301 [arXiv:1608.02952] [INSPIRE].
- [36] F. Benini and S. Cremonesi, Partition Functions of $\mathcal{N} = (2, 2)$ Gauge Theories on S^2 and Vortices, Commun. Math. Phys. **334** (2015) 1483 [arXiv:1206.2356] [INSPIRE].
- [37] N. Doroud, J. Gomis, B. Le Floch and S. Lee, Exact Results in D = 2 Supersymmetric Gauge Theories, JHEP 05 (2013) 093 [arXiv:1206.2606] [INSPIRE].
- [38] M. Fujitsuka, M. Honda and Y. Yoshida, *Higgs branch localization of 3d* $\mathcal{N} = 2$ theories, *PTEP* **2014** (2014) 123B02 [arXiv:1312.3627] [INSPIRE].
- [39] F. Benini and W. Peelaers, *Higgs branch localization in three dimensions*, *JHEP* 05 (2014)
 030 [arXiv:1312.6078] [INSPIRE].
- [40] W. Peelaers, Higgs branch localization of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories on $S^3 \times S^1$, JHEP **08** (2014) 060 [arXiv:1403.2711] [INSPIRE].
- [41] Y. Pan, 5d Higgs Branch Localization, Seiberg-Witten Equations and Contact Geometry, JHEP 01 (2015) 145 [arXiv:1406.5236] [INSPIRE].
- [42] H.-Y. Chen and T.-H. Tsai, On Higgs branch localization of Seiberg-Witten theories on an ellipsoid, PTEP 2016 (2016) 013B09 [arXiv:1506.04390] [INSPIRE].
- [43] N.S.T. David Gilbarg, Elliptic Partial Differential Equations of Second Order, 2nd ed., Classics in Mathematics, Springer (1998).
- [44] F. Bonetti and L. Rastelli, Supersymmetric Localization in AdS₅ and the Protected Chiral Algebra, arXiv:1612.06514 [INSPIRE].
- [45] T.T. Wu and C.N. Yang, Dirac Monopole Without Strings: Monopole Harmonics, Nucl. Phys. B 107 (1976) 365 [INSPIRE].
- [46] T. Dray, The Relationship Between Monopole Harmonics and Spin Weighted Spherical Harmonics, J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985) 1030 [INSPIRE].
- [47] E. Gerchkovitz, J. Gomis, N. Ishtiaque, A. Karasik, Z. Komargodski and S.S. Pufu, *Correlation Functions of Coulomb Branch Operators*, *JHEP* 01 (2017) 103 [arXiv:1602.05971] [INSPIRE].

- [48] B. Allen and T. Jacobson, Vector Two Point Functions in Maximally Symmetric Spaces, Commun. Math. Phys. 103 (1986) 669 [INSPIRE].
- [49] N. Doroud and J. Gomis, Gauge theory dynamics and Kähler potential for Calabi-Yau complex moduli, JHEP 12 (2013) 099 [arXiv:1309.2305] [INSPIRE].
- [50] J. Gomis and S. Lee, Exact Kähler Potential from Gauge Theory and Mirror Symmetry, JHEP 04 (2013) 019 [arXiv:1210.6022] [INSPIRE].
- [51] F. Benini, P.M. Crichigno, D. Jain and J. Nian, Semichiral fields on S² and generalized Kähler geometry, JHEP 01 (2016) 060 [arXiv:1505.06207] [INSPIRE].
- [52] F. Benini, R. Eager, K. Hori and Y. Tachikawa, Elliptic genera of two-dimensional N = 2 gauge theories with rank-one gauge groups, Lett. Math. Phys. 104 (2014) 465
 [arXiv:1305.0533] [INSPIRE].
- [53] F. Benini, R. Eager, K. Hori and Y. Tachikawa, Elliptic Genera of 2d N = 2 Gauge Theories, Commun. Math. Phys. 333 (2015) 1241 [arXiv:1308.4896] [INSPIRE].
- [54] F. Benini and A. Zaffaroni, A topologically twisted index for three-dimensional supersymmetric theories, JHEP 07 (2015) 127 [arXiv:1504.03698] [INSPIRE].
- [55] C. Closset, S. Cremonesi and D.S. Park, The equivariant A-twist and gauged linear σ-models on the two-sphere, JHEP 06 (2015) 076 [arXiv:1504.06308] [INSPIRE].
- [56] N. Nekrasov and A. Okounkov, Seiberg-Witten theory and random partitions, Prog. Math. 244 (2006) 525 [hep-th/0306238] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J. Gomis, B. Le Floch, Y. Pan and W. Peelaers, Intersecting Surface Defects and Two-Dimensional CFT, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 045003 [arXiv:1610.03501] [INSPIRE].
- [58] Y. Pan and W. Peelaers, Intersecting Surface Defects and Instanton Partition Functions, JHEP 07 (2017) 073 [arXiv:1612.04839] [INSPIRE].
- [59] L.F. Alday, D. Gaiotto and Y. Tachikawa, Liouville Correlation Functions from Four-dimensional Gauge Theories, Lett. Math. Phys. 91 (2010) 167 [arXiv:0906.3219]
 [INSPIRE].